COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

between

The Ottawa Public Library Board

and

The Ottawa-Carleton Public Employees' Union Local 503, Library Group

in affiliation with

The Canadian Union of Public Employees (C.L.C.)



Latest Date of Ratification: March 24, 2022 Effective: January 1, 2020 to December 31, 2024

TABLE OF CONTENTS

E 2 - RESPONSIBILITY OF THE EMPLOYER 6
LE 3 - RESPONSIBILITY OF THE UNION
E 4 - HOURS OF WORK
Reporting
Flexible Working Hours/Compressed Work Week
Standard Hours of Work
Minimum Shift
Scheduling
(a) Evening and Saturday Work
Posting of Work Schedules and Shift Changes
Split Shifts
Lunch, Dinner and Break Periods 12
E 5 - OVERTIME
Overtime
E 6 - LEAVE
Vacation Leave
Income Protection Plan
Reporting of Absences
Special Leave
Bereavement Leave
Pregnancy and Parental/Adoption Leave
Leave for Collective Bargaining
Leave of Absence for Union Members
Leave Without Pay
Public Holidays
Jury and Witness Duty Leave
29 Court Duty
Time Off for Voting
Self-Funded Leave Plan
Domestic and Sexual Violence Leave
E 7 - WORKPLACE SAFETY & INSURANCE ACT
Benefits
E 8 - PENSION
Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System (OMERS)

ARTICLE 9 - PROBATION PERIOD	
ARTICLE 10 - SENIORITY	
10.2 Accumulating Seniority	35
10.3 Frozen Seniority	
10.4 Losing Seniority	
10.5 Seniority Lists	
*10.6 Definition of Continuous Service	37
*ARTICLE 11 - PROMOTIONS AND TRANSFERS	
*11.5 Temporary Transfer	
ARTICLE 12 - LAYOFF AND RECALL	
12.11 Lay-Off Notices	
ARTICLE 13 - UNION REPRESENTATION	
*ARTICLE 14 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	
*ARTICLE 15 - ARBITRATION PROCEDURE – GRIEVANCES	
ARTICLE 16 - UNION SECURITY	
ARTICLE 17 - BENEFITS	
17.1 Benefits	
17.2 Eligibility	
17.3 Restriction and Limitations	
17.4 Premiums	
*17.5 Extended Health Care	
17.6 Dental Plan	
17.7 Basic Life Insurance and Accidental Death and Dismemberment.	
17.8 Long Term Disability	
*17.10 Benefits for Continuous Employees Working Beyond Age Sixty-Five	
17.11 E.I. Reductions	
17.12 Voluntary Critical Illness Insurance	
17.13 Benefits for Retirees	
17.14 Optional Enhanced Retiree Benefit Plan	
ARTICLE 18 - LABOUR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE	
ARTICLE 19 - PERSONNEL FILES	
19.1 Access	
*19.2 Discipline	
ARTICLE 20 - SALARIES	
20.3 Salary Increments.	
20.5 Salary Protection on Downward Reclassification	

ARTICL	E 21 - JOINT OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH & SAFETY	
ARTICL	E 22 - JOB SECURITY	
	Volunteers	
	E 23 - ACTING PAY	
	Acting Pay Calculation	OLARSTAIN CL
	Increment Date Upon Appointment	
23.4	Promotional Increase from an Acting Appointment	
	E 24 - ORGANIZATIONAL OR TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGES	
24.1	Union Representation at Meetings	58
24.2	Sequence of Application	
24.3	Notice	
24.4	Placement	59
24.5	Retraining	
24.7	Bumping	61
ARTICL	E 25 - GENERAL	63
*25.	Automobile Allowance	63
*25.2	2 Uniforms and Protective Footwear	
25.3	Number or Gender	
	Legal Protection	
25.5	Job Evaluation/Pay Equity	63
	5 Transit Subsidy	
	7 Bulletin Boards	
ARTICL	E 26 - CATEGORIES OF EMPLOYEES	65
ARTICL	E 27 - SEVERANCE PROCEDURE	65
*ARTIC	LE 28 - COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT VARIATIONS SPECIFIC TO CA	SUAL
	YEES	0.00 M 10 M 10 M
ARTICL	E 29 - DURATION OF AGREEMENT	68
	Duration of Agreement	
	LE 30 - PROVISIONS FOR LIBRARIANS	
APPEN	DIX A - SENIORITY DOVETAILING CALCULATION	
APPENI	DIX B - AVERAGE WORKING DAY FORMULA	
APPENI	DIX C - CLASSIFICATION AND SALARY SCALES	
*APPEN	IDIX D - LIST OF CLASSIFICATIONS	

*APPENDIX E	77
*APPENDIX F - TEMPORARY VACANCIES	87

COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE OTTAWA PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD AND CUPE 503

FROM JANUARY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2024

***ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION**

1.1 The Employer recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for all employees of the Ottawa Public Library Board save and except Managers and those persons above the rank of Manager, Planning Consultants, three (3) Executive/Board Assistants to the Chief Executive Officer and one (1) Administrative Assistant per Division Manager, and any other persons excluded under the provisions of the Ontario Labour Relations Act.

Clarity Note

With respect to the creation of any new position of "Manager", the Parties agree that a position that meets the following criteria shall be excluded from the bargaining unit:

- a) a manager of any new library branch or branches; and/or
- b) a person excluded from the bargaining unit under the provisions of the Ontario Labour Relations Act.

ARTICLE 2 - RESPONSIBILITY OF THE EMPLOYER

- 2.1 The Employer agrees not to interfere with the rights of its employees designated within the scope of the Agreement, and there shall be no discrimination, interference, restraint, intimidation, bullying and coercion by the Employer, or any of its representatives against any employee because of Union Membership, or against any union representative because of Union activity within the provisions of this Collective Agreement.
- 2.2 The Employer agrees that there shall be no lockout of employees during the operation of this Collective Agreement.
- 2.3 The Employer agrees that every employee has a right to freedom from harassment in the workplace and to equal treatment with respect to employment without discrimination because of race, ancestry, place of origin, color, ethnic origin, citizenship, creed, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, age, record of offences, marital status, family status, political and religious affiliations or disability. The above-noted grounds shall be as they are defined in the Ontario Human Rights Code, R.S.O. 1990.

COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE OTTAWA PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD AND CUPE 503

FROM JANUARY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2024

- 2.4 The Employer recognizes and accepts the provisions of this Agreement as binding upon itself and upon each of its authorized representatives and pledges that it, and each of its duly authorized representatives, will observe the provisions of this Agreement.
- 2.5 The Employer agrees that any public reports or recommendations to be made to the Board dealing with matters covered by this Agreement will be provided to the Secretary of the Union at the Union Office, prior to the public report or recommendation being dealt with by the Board, so as to afford the Union reasonable opportunity to consider them, and if necessary to make its views known to the Board. The Employer also agrees to provide the Union with all public reports and public recommendations to be dealt with by the Board at the same time as they are sent to the members of the Board. Should the Union not make its views known prior to the Board dealing with the report or recommendation, this shall not be construed as concurrence by the Union with the report or recommendation.
- 2.6 The Employer agrees to recognize the Union's Labour Representatives.

ARTICLE 3 - RESPONSIBILITY OF THE UNION

- 3.1 The Union agrees that it will not intimidate or coerce employees into membership in the Union.
- 3.2 The Union agrees that membership solicitation and other Union activity not pertaining to this Agreement will not take place during working hours or on the premises of the Employer or on any work project the Employer may be engaged in.
- 3.3 The Union agrees that there shall be no strike or other cessation of work during the operation of this Collective Agreement.
- 3.4 The Union agrees that every employee has a right to freedom from harassment in the workplace and to equal treatment with respect to employment without discrimination because of race, ancestry, place of origin, color, ethnic origin, citizenship, creed, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, age, record of offences, marital status, family status, political and religious affiliations or disability. The above-noted grounds shall be as they are defined in the Ontario Human Rights Code, R.S.O. 1990.

- 3.5 The Union recognizes and accepts the provisions of this Agreement as binding upon itself, each of its duly authorized officers, representatives and employees represented by the Union, and pledges that it, and each of its duly authorized officers and representatives and employees represented by the Union, will observe the provisions of this Agreement.
- 3.6 The Union agrees that it will consider any public reports or recommendations to the Board dealing with matters covered by this Agreement or concerning the Union or its members and to express its opinion before the matter is to be dealt with by the Board when the Union deems it necessary to do so.
- 3.7 The Union recognizes that subject to the provisions of this Agreement, it is the right and obligation of the Employer to:
 - (a) Hire, promote, direct, transfer, demote, lay-off, retire, rehire employees, schedule work, classify positions, maintain order and efficiency.
 - (b) Suspend, discharge or otherwise discipline employees for just cause subject to the right of the employee concerned to lodge a grievance under the orderly procedure outlined in this Agreement.
 - *(c) Make and alter, from time to time, reasonable rules and regulations to be observed by the employees, operate and manage its library system in accordance with its obligations, commitments and responsibilities.
 - *(d) Decide on the number of employees needed by the Board at any time, use improved methods, machinery and equipment, exercise responsibility for jurisdiction over all operations, buildings, machinery, tools and employees.

ARTICLE 4 - HOURS OF WORK

4.1 Reporting

Employees will not be required to report to work at a location that is more than thirty-five (35) km from their substantive work location unless the employees agree to do so. This does not apply to attending meetings or training sessions and situations where the work has been relocated.

COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE OTTAWA PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD AND CUPE 503

FROM JANUARY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2024

4.2 Flexible Working Hours/Compressed Work Week

- (a) Flexible/compressed working hours may be introduced provided that:
 - The normal daily working hours for all employees fall between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 9:30 p.m.
 - (ii) These hours be consecutive and do not exceed the normal hours of work defined in clause 4.3 below.
 - (iii) The schedule is mutually agreed upon between the employee and the Employer.
- (b) An employee's request to work on a compressed workweek is subject to mutual agreement between the employee and the Employer.

4.3 Standard Hours of Work

4.3.1 Non Public Service Staff

(a) The normal hours of work for full-time employees shall be seven (7) hours a day and thirty-five (35) hours per week, scheduled between 7:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m. Monday through Friday.

The normal hours of work for part-time employees may be up to seven (7) hours a day.

For the purposes of scheduling additional/replacement hours, hours of work for part-time employees and full-time employees regularly working less than 35 hours per week, may be up to eight (8) hours in a day without incurring overtime.

*(b) Hours of work for Materials Delivery employees will be scheduled between the following hours:

Monday to Saturday: 7:00 a.m. to 9:00 p.m.

Full-time Materials Delivery employees may be required to work an evening shift ending no later than 9:00 p.m., a maximum of two (2) Saturdays out of four (4) Saturdays and one (1) Sunday out of six (6)

Sundays. Part-time employees may be required to work more than the minimum applicable to full-time employees defined herein.

For greater certainty, it is understood that Material Sorters who work in Materials Delivery will be considered Materials Delivery employees and subject to the hours of work of the Materials Delivery department when working in that Department.

4.3.2 Public Service Staff

The normal hours of work for full-time employees shall be seven (7) hours a day and thirty-five (35) hours per week, scheduled between 9:00 a.m. and 9:15 p.m., Monday through Saturday.

The normal hours of work for part-time employees may be up to seven (7) hours a day.

For the purposes of scheduling additional/replacement hours, hours of work for part-time employees and full-time employees regularly working less than 35 hours per week, may be up to eight (8) hours in a day without incurring overtime.

4.4 Minimum Shift

- Part-time and/or full-time employees working fewer than thirty-five
 (35) hours a week may be scheduled for shifts of less than seven (7) hours but in all events shall be paid a minimum of three and one half
 (3 1/2) hours per shift.
- (b) Where an employee has been scheduled a minimum shift or greater on a given day, an offer of additional or replacement hours on the same day may be less than 3.5 hours. It is understood that the offer of such additional hours does not have to be at the same location.

4.5 Scheduling

Hours are offered in order of seniority within their location then system-wide to qualified regular employees to meet operational requirements. If no regular employees accept the hours, they will be offered to casual or temporary employees according to their ranking in terms of hours worked.

Additional hours are defined as hours not regularly scheduled but offered to cover increased workload due to conditions such as:

- Emergencies, civic or branch related
- Library system failure
- Increased volume of work due to long weekends.

Replacement hours are hours offered to replace permanent employees who are absent under the terms of the collective agreement or unable to perform their regular duties due to other work commitments.

The Library will establish lists of employees who wish to work extra hours. These lists will include the seniority ranking (or accumulated hours worked if casual or temporary) of each employee. The list will be updated at the same time as the seniority list. Scheduling of extra hours may take place once the need for coverage has been established. In an emergency, the most expeditious method of offering hours will be used.

4.6 (a) Evening and Saturday Work

Full-time public service employees may be required to work two (2) evenings per week and two (2) Saturdays out of four (4) Saturdays.

It is understood that part-time employees may be required to work more than the minimum applicable to full-time employees.

(b) Sunday Work

It is recognized that Sunday work is a recurring need to be deemed as excluded from the regular workweek and does not have to be scheduled in accordance with Article 4.5. Sunday work shall be scheduled as follows:

- Full-time public service employees may be required to work one (1) Sunday out of six (6) Sundays.
- Part-time Public Service employees may be required to work more than the minimum applicable to full-time employees.

An employee who is required to work on Sunday shall be paid at time and one-half (1 1/2) their regular hourly rate of pay for all overtime hours if their

hours of work exceed thirty-five (35) hours in that week. For calculation of hours worked in a week, the week begins on Monday and ends on Sunday.

4.7 Posting of Work Schedules and Shift Changes

- (a) Work schedules covering an eight (8) week period will be posted two
 (2) weeks in advance. Employees wishing to alter hours of duty must have the approval of their Manager or designate.
- (b) Except in cases of emergency, employees shall be given reasonable advance notice (24 hours) of changes in timetables.

(c) Shift Exchanges

The Employer shall not unreasonably deny requests by employees to exchange shifts with other employees provided that:

- Employees are of the same classification and Branch,
- Exchanges do not result in additional costs to the Employer and,
- Shifts are for the same duration.

Approval for each shift exchange will be sought from the employee's Manager or designate at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to the start of the shift.

4.8 Split Shifts

There shall be no split shifts, unless mutually agreed upon by the Employer, the employee and the Union.

4.9 Lunch, Dinner and Break Periods

Lunch and dinner breaks are taken on the employee's own time and scheduled at the discretion of the Supervisor. An employee's request regarding the length of his/her lunch or dinner break (½ hour or 1 hour) will not be unreasonably denied.

Paid breaks, not exceeding fifteen (15) minutes, will be arranged and taken in the morning and in the afternoon, or in the afternoon and in the evening.

LENGTH OF SHIFT*	BREAKS (15 minutes, paid)	LUNCH / DINNER (Non-paid)
Up to and including 5 hours**	1	N/A
More than 5 hours and less than 6 hours	1	½ hour or 1 hour
6 hours or more	2	1/2 hour or 1 hour

Lunch, dinner and break periods will be allocated as per the chart below:

- * A shift is the number of continuous hours worked.
- ** Should a five (5) hour shift span a lunch or dinner period, a fifteen (15) minute unpaid break may be added to the fifteen (15) minute paid break. It is understood that the five (5) hour shift will be extended by fifteen (15) minutes.

ARTICLE 5 - OVERTIME

- 5.1 Overtime
 - (a) (i) Full time Employees

No employee shall work overtime unless authorized by the Manager or designate. Overtime shall be defined as time worked in excess of seven (7) hours per day and thirty-five (35) hours per week. For full time employees working less than thirty-five (35) hours per week, overtime shall be defined as time worked in excess of eight (8) hours per day and thirty-five (35) hours per week.

(ii) Part time Employees

No employee shall work overtime unless authorized by the Manager or designate. Overtime shall be defined as time worked in excess of eight (8) hours per day and thirty-five (35) hours per week.

(b) No employee shall be required to exceed thirty-two (32) overtime hours in any bi-weekly pay period. It is recognized, however, that the limitation

of thirty-two (32) overtime hours may be exceeded in those situations where it is deemed that an emergency exists which requires the employee to exceed the overtime limit.

- (c) All employees who work overtime shall be paid one and one-half (1¹/₂) times their regular hourly rate of pay for all overtime hours.
- (d) If overtime is not consecutive with normal hours, the employee shall receive a minimum three (3) hours pay at the overtime rate.
- (e) <u>Time Off in Lieu of Overtime</u>

An employee may request time off in lieu of overtime, such time off to be calculated at the overtime rate for each hour of overtime worked. Such time off shall be taken at a time mutually agreed to by the employee and the Manager or designate. Lieu time must be taken in the calendar year in which it was earned. Any unused lieu time will be paid by the end of January of the following calendar year. Such request shall not be unnecessarily denied.

(f) Overtime work shall be on a voluntary basis for all employees. If there are no volunteers, the Employer has the right to require employees to work overtime based on reverse order of seniority. This clause is not applicable for Sunday.

ARTICLE 6 - LEAVE

- 6.1 Vacation Leave
 - (a) The vacation year is from January 1 to December 31. Although it is intended that vacation credits accumulated during the year should be taken by December 31 of that year, up to five (5) days of annual leave may be carried over to the following year.

This provision does not apply to part-time employees.

(b) After one year of continuous service, application may be made to carry over vacation credits in excess of five (5) days beyond the December 31 deadline but in no case may the vacation credits carried over exceed the total number of days leave earned in that year. This application

must be made in writing by October 1 to the appropriate Manager, stating the reason for the carryover.

This provision does not apply to part-time employees.

(c) Employees' vacation preferences for the period January 1 to December 31 shall be submitted to the Employer on the appropriate form, in accordance with the chart below:

Deadline for Employee Request	Vacation Period	Employer Confirmation
March 1	June 1 to Sept 30	April 1
July 2	Oct 1 to Jan 31	July 31
Nov 1	Feb 1 to May 31	Nov 30

Preference in choice of vacation dates will be determined on the basis of seniority within the Branch/Department and will not be unreasonably denied.

Vacation requests received after the deadline as outlined above shall be considered on a first come, first-served, basis. Such requests shall not be unreasonably denied.

- (d) A full-time employee earns but is not entitled to receive vacation leave with pay during the first three (3) months of employment. After one year of continuous service, an employee may be granted vacation leave in excess of the earned credits to the extent of credits that will accumulate to the end of the current vacation year.
- (e) To ensure the Library continues to operate in the best interest of the public during staff vacations, each Manager must ensure that:
 - The vacation schedule is arranged so as to require a minimum number of replacements.
 - A representative complement of professional, supervisory, support and clerical support workers is on duty at all times.
- (f) If an employee has taken more leave than the employee has earned at the time when the employee's services are terminated for a reason other than redundancy, layoff, or death, the salary over-payment

resulting from the use of unearned vacation leave shall be recovered from the employee by the Employer. The Employer shall be deemed to be authorized pursuant to the Employment Standards Act, 2000 to make deductions from the employee's pay cheque in order to recover the overpayment, provided the employee has agreed in writing to a reasonable re-payment schedule.

- (g) When the employment of an employee terminates for any reason and the employee has accumulated, but unused, vacation leave, the employee or the estate of the deceased employee shall be paid an amount equal to the product obtained by multiplying the number of days of earned but unused vacation leave by the daily rate of pay applicable to the employee immediately prior to the termination of employment.
- (h) Only employees from the former Ottawa Public Library who have completed fifteen (15) consecutive years of service from the employee's last date of hire up to and including December 31, 2003 shall be entitled to a twenty (20) year service leave of twenty-two (22) consecutive paid days to be taken no later than one (1) year before their retirement date. Public holidays falling during the twenty (20) year service leave will extend the leave with pay by the number of public holidays included. Requests for the use of leave must be submitted to the appropriate Manager, at least three (3) months in advance, and such requests shall not be unreasonably denied. The salary paid during the service leave will be based on the employee's regular position.
- (i) Employees of all former library systems will have their yearly vacation entitlement calculated, either:
 - Under the terms and conditions of their respective former Collective Agreement; or
 - As outlined in articles 6.1.1 or 6.1.2,

Whichever vacation entitlement is greater.

6.1.1 Vacation Entitlement - Full-Time Employees

Vacation leave shall be earned and granted to all full-time employees who have passed probation at the following rates:

- (a) Upon hiring, all employees on the regular payroll shall be entitled to an annual vacation of fifteen (15) days with pay, accumulated at the rate of one and one-quarter working days for each month worked.
- (b) After five (5) years of continuous service, all employees shall be entitled to an annual vacation of twenty (20) working days accumulated at the rate of one and two-thirds working days for each month worked.
- (c) After sixteen (16) years of continuous service, all employees shall be entitled to an annual vacation of twenty-five (25) working days accumulated at the rate of two and one-twelfth (2 1/12) working days for each month worked.
- (d) After twenty-two (22) years of continuous service, all employees shall be entitled to an annual vacation of thirty (30) working days accumulated at the rate of two and one-half (2 1/2) working days for each month worked.

*6.1.2 Vacation Entitlement – Part-Time Employees

In lieu of paid vacation leave, vacation pay based on gross earnings and paid bi-weekly shall be provided to employees in accordance with the following schedule:

- (a) 6% upon hiring
- (b) 8% after five (5) years but less than sixteen (16) years of continuous service
- (c) 10% after sixteen (16) years but less than twenty-two (22) years of continuous service
- (d) 12% after twenty-two (22) years of continuous service

Part time employees shall be entitled to take leave of absence without pay of up to an amount of time equal to one week for each 2% vacation pay entitlement per year.

A part time employee shall accumulate seniority during the vacation leave. In calculating seniority, the Employer shall apply the average working day formula.

- 6.2 Income Protection Plan
- 6.2.1 (a) Full-time employees who have completed three (3) months of continuous service and who are unable to perform their duties due to non-occupational illness or injury shall be entitled to income protection in accordance with the chart below:

Length of Service	Full Salary (Weeks / Days)		66 2/3 Salary (Weeks / Days)	
Less than 3 months	0	0	0	0
3 months but less than 6 months	0	0	17	85
6 months but less than 1 year	1	5	16	80
1 year but less than 2 years	2	10	15	75
2 years but less than 3 years	3	15	14	70
3 years but less than 4 years	4	20	13	65
4 years but less than 5 years	5	25	12	60
5 years but less than 6 years	7	35	10	50
6 years but less than 7 years	9	45	8	40
7 years but less than 8 years	11	55	6	30
8 years but less than 9 years	13	65	4	20
9 years but less than 10 years	15	75	2	10
10 years and over	17	85	0	0

- (b) An employee's entitlement to any particular level of benefit in accordance with the schedule set out in (a) above shall be based on the employee's length of service with the Employer.
- (c) Occurrence of Public or Declared Holidays during an employee's absence on Income Protection Plan shall not reduce an employee's number of days of IPP eligibility.
- (d) The applicable number of weeks of IPP benefits at full salary (100%) shall be available only once in any calendar year.
- (e) Part-time employees with a weekly average of fourteen (14) hours, calculated using the Average Working Day formula for one week, who are unable to perform their duties due to non-occupational illness or

injury shall be entitled to Income Protection for the scheduled hours in accordance with the schedule listed in 6.2.1 (a) for full-time employees.

6.2.2 Medical Certification

- (a) Employees who are entitled to leave of absence on account of nonoccupational illness or injury may obtain it on production of satisfactory application, through their Manager. Each employee who is absent for a period of more than four (4) consecutive working days shall file with the application a satisfactory certificate from a qualified medical practitioner. A diagnosis shall not be required on such medical certificate. Each employee shall be allowed, if qualified, to apply for this leave of up to four (4) consecutive working days without a doctor's certificate provided that the total number of such uncertified days in any calendar year shall not exceed ten (10) days.
- (b) Employees, including employees absent as a result of an industrial accident, will be required to produce any medical certificate necessary within the first fifteen (15) days of absence. It will be necessary to renew such certificate(s) every twenty-five (25) days thereafter, unless the Manager is satisfied with the initial certificate indicating the total period of absence and probable date of return to work.
- (c) The Employer will consider exceptional circumstances which may prevent an employee from providing their medical certificate within the required timelines
- (d) If it should appear that any employee is making too frequent application for this leave, or that the correctness of a certificate is questionable, the matter shall be referred to the appropriate Division Manager for investigation and report.
- (e) A qualified medical practitioner shall include but is not limited to a general practitioner, nurse practitioner, medical specialist, psychiatrist, oral surgeon, midwife, chiropractor, registered clinical psychologist, physiotherapist or dentist.

6.2.3 Illness While On Vacation

While on vacation should illness or injury occur which would have required the employee to take Income Protection Plan benefits from work, that portion of vacation leave shall subsequently be cancelled and deducted from the Income Protection Plan on presentation of medical certificate(s) to the appropriate Manager.

6.2.4 Reinstatement of Entitlement

(a) Unrelated Claims

In the case of an unrelated claim, the potential seventeen (17) week period of Income Protection shall be reinstated provided an employee has returned to active employment and has worked three (3) days of work.

(b) Related Claims

In the case of a claim which is related to a previous claim, the potential seventeen (17) week period of Income Protection shall be reinstated provided thirty (30) days have elapsed from the cessation of the previous claim and the commencement of the related claim.

6.2.5 If the Employer has overpaid an employee under Article 6.2 – Income Protection Plan, the resulting overpayment may be recovered from the employee by the Employer as follows: The Employer shall be deemed to be authorized pursuant to the *Employment Standards Act, 2000* to make deductions from the employee's pay cheque in order to recover the overpayment provided the employee has agreed in writing to a reasonable repayment schedule.

*6.2.6 Dental/Medical Appointments

(a) Time off for essential dental or medical appointments may be taken during working hours; advance permission must be obtained from the immediate supervisor. The employee may make up this time or the time off may be accumulated and deducted from the IPP Plan and treated as uncertified leave.

When an employee elects to make up the time, such time shall be made up at a time that is acceptable to both the employee and the Employer.

(b) Employees who request authorization for a series of scheduled medical or dental appointments or treatment dates, and who have not elected to make up the time for such absences as per article 6.2.6, shall have these absences coded as certified IPP, upon receipt of proper documentation.

The employee may be required to provide written confirmation from a qualified medical practitioner, or the medical practitioner's office of the scheduled dates, times, and the length of appointment and any anticipated recovery time, in order to receive authorization to attend such appointments during working hours. Such confirmation may be provided directly to the manager or, at the Employee's option, to the HR Business Services Branch. Submission of such written confirmation should be provided at least five (5) working days prior to the first appointment or treatment date.

Once approved the absences covered herein shall not count towards the employees' limit of 10 uncertified IPP absences per year, but shall be deducted from the employees' IPP entitlement under article 6.2.1.

*6.3 <u>Reporting of Absences</u>

Leave due to non-occupational illness/injury must be reported to the Manager or designate at least two (2) hours prior to the beginning of the scheduled shift. It is understood that there may be extenuating circumstances that prevent an employee from reporting an absence in advance, and the absence must be reported as early as possible.

6.4 Special Leave

- 6.4.1 Employees may be granted up to a total of thirty-five (35) hours paid leave credits during a calendar year. This leave may be authorized by the Manager for the following reasons:
 - (a) The unexpected or sudden illness of the employee's spouse or child and/or aging parent, which prevents the employee from reporting to duty.
 - (b) Emergency situations, which prevent the employee from reporting to duty.
 - (c) Professional appointments such as medical, dental, legal and optical for the employee's dependent child and/or aging parent and/or spouse, where accompaniment is required.
 - (d) Professional appointments for the employee excluding medical, dental and optical.

Application for special leave for reasons not specified above shall be submitted to the relevant Manager for approval.

- 6.4.2 Special leave shall not be unreasonably denied.
- 6.4.3 Special leave will be based on the Average Working Day Formula for parttime employees.
- 6.4.4 Special leave is non-cumulative and may be taken on an hourly basis and in minimum units of one hour. Employees who have taken special leave may be required to produce satisfactory evidence to substantiate the reasons for the leave.

6.5 Bereavement Leave

In the following context, the definition of "family member" and "spouse" also includes common-law relationships, and conjugal relationships between partners of the same sex.

- (a) When a family member dies, each employee shall be entitled to leave with pay for:
 - A period not exceeding four (4) consecutive working days for the death of a spouse, child, stepchild, mother, father, substitute parent, sister, brother, mother-in-law, father-in-law;
 - A period not exceeding three (3) consecutive working days for the death of a brother-in-law, sister-in-law, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, grandparent, grandparent of current spouse, grandchild;
 - (iii) One (1) working day for the death of an aunt, uncle, niece or nephew;
 - (iv) One (1) extra working day is allowed for travel time if the distance is greater than 350 kilometers (one way).
- (b) Part-time employees will be entitled to bereavement leave in accordance with clause (a) above, based on the Average Working Day Formula, provided the employee was scheduled to work and the leave falls within a seven (7) calendar day period following the death.
- (c) The Union recognizes that Bereavement Leave is intended to be used at the time of the death and/or funeral. The Employer recognizes that there may be situations when part or all of an employee's entitlement may be requested and shall be granted at a later date in order to attend to matters related to the bereavement.

6.6 Pregnancy and Parental/Adoption Leave

Pregnancy and Parental /Adoption leave shall be granted in accordance with the Employment Standards Act, 2000 except where amended by this provision.

6.6.1 (a) Pregnancy Leave

A pregnant employee who has completed 13 weeks of service with the Employer shall, upon written request to their Manager, be granted a leave of absence without pay for a maximum of 17 weeks. The timing

and notices related to this leave shall be as set out under the *Employment Standards Act, 2000.*

(b) Parental/Adoption Leave

An employee who has completed 13 weeks of service with the Employer and who is the parent or adoptive parent of a child, shall, upon written request to their Manager, be granted a leave of absence without pay following the birth of the child or the coming of the child into the employee's custody, care and control for the first time. This leave shall span to a maximum of 35 weeks, if the employee has taken pregnancy leave and to a maximum of 37 weeks if he/she has not taken pregnancy leave. The timing and notice provisions relating to this leave shall be as stipulated under the *Employment Standards Act, 2000*.

- (c) Topping Up
 - (i) An employee with a minimum of six (6) months service who is on pregnancy leave as defined by the *Employment Standards Act 2000*, shall be entitled to receive ninety three percent (93%) of their normal wage for the two week waiting period for Employment Insurance. The employee is also eligible to a topping up of their Employment Insurance benefits to a maximum of ninety-three (93%) of their normal wage for a maximum of fifteen weeks (15) weeks.
 - (ii) An employee with a minimum of six (6) months service who is on parental/adoption leave as defined by the *Employment Standards Act, 2000* shall be entitled to receive a topping up of their Employment Insurance benefits to a maximum of ninetythree percent (93%) of their normal wage for a maximum of twelve (12) weeks. In the event the employee serves a waiting period for parental/adoption leave, they shall be entitled to receive ninety-three percent (93%) of his/her normal wage for the two week waiting period for Employment Insurance and a maximum of ten (10) additional weeks of topping up of their Employment Insurance benefits to a maximum of ninety-three percent (93%) of their normal wage, for a maximum total of twelve (12) weeks inclusive of the two week waiting period.

- (iii) In order to a receive this top-up pursuant to (i) or (ii) above, the employee must qualify for and be in receipt of Employment Insurance benefits. This topping-up arrangement is subject to the approval of Human Resources Development Canada.
- (iv) For part-time employees with at least 12 months of continuous service and who have completed their probationary period, the "topping up" of Employment Insurance benefits to ninetythree percent (93%) of the employee's earnings will be in accordance with the Average Working Day Formula (See Appendix B)
- (d) <u>Benefit Entitlements During Pregnancy and/or Parental/Adoption</u> Leave

Employees who are eligible for Pregnancy and/or Parental/Adoption leave as defined above, shall:

- Continue to accumulate service and seniority for the duration of the leave;
- (ii) Retain their increment date;
- (iii) Retain their enrolment in the following Benefit Plans provided the employee makes necessary arrangements to pay their share of the premium costs where applicable:
 - Extended Health Care
 - Dental Insurance
 - Group Life Insurance
 - OMERS Pension
- (e) The employee shall be entitled to return to his/her job upon the completion of Pregnancy and/or Parental/Adoption Leave, in the same manner as provided by the *Employment Standards Act, 2000* for an employee on Pregnancy and/or Parental/Adoption Leave under this legislation.
- (f) It is understood and agreed than an employee is not entitled to income protection plan benefits while on pregnancy or parental/adoption leave.

(g) To cover the birth or adoption of a child, employees may be granted up to five (5) days leave to be charged against the employee's income protection plan. This leave can be authorized by the Manager but cannot be taken in addition to the leave described in paragraphs (a) to (f) of this Clause. It is understood that these five days do not count towards an employee's ten (10) days of allowed uncertified sick leave absences as outlined in Article 6.2.2 (a).

6.7 Leave for Collective Bargaining

The Employer shall grant leave of absence with pay to three (3) employees selected by the Union to serve on the negotiating team. The Employer shall pay for time spent in negotiations as scheduled by the parties. Leave for collective bargaining will not be considered as leave for Union business.

6.8 Leave of Absence for Union Members

(a) Leave to Attend Union Conventions

Subject to operational requirements, the Employer shall grant reasonable leave of absence with pay to Union delegates to attend the convention of the following:

- Canadian Labour Congress
- Canadian Union of Public Employees
- Ontario Division of CUPE
- Ontario Federation of Labour

The Union will notify the Manager of each delegate at least twenty (20) days prior to the date that delegates will be leaving to attend the convention. A copy of this notification will be provided by the Union to the Chief Executive Officer or designate.

(b) Leave for Union Business

Subject to operational requirements, the Employer shall grant reasonable leaves of absence with pay to representatives of the Union from within the bargaining unit elected or appointed by the membership to a maximum total of one hundred and ten (110) working days in a calendar year. Individual use of such leave shall be capped at thirty (30) days. Leave for union business shall be granted by the

Employer upon a written request from the Union. Requests shall be submitted in a businesslike and timely fashion, at least forty-eight hours (48) in advance of the requested absence.

The individual cap may be exceeded at the discretion of the Employer upon application from the President. This leave relates solely to the affairs of the Union. Leave to attend grievance and arbitration hearings will not be included in the above-mentioned totals.

(c) Reimbursement by the Union

The Union shall reimburse the Employer for the costs of such absences as set forth in subsections (a) and (b) above.

(d) Leave for Full-time Elected or Appointed Union Position

The Employer recognizes that when an employee is elected or appointed to a full-time Union office, the Employer shall grant leave of absence under Article 6.9 Leave without Pay, for up to three (3) years, and upon returning to his/her former position, at the end of such leave, the employee will be given credit for past service. Should the employee's position be declared redundant during the period of leave, the employee shall be granted his/her rights under Article 24 – Organizational or Technological Changes at the end of his/her leave period.

6.9 Leave Without Pay

- (a) Subject to operational requirements, reasonable leave without pay may be granted by the Employer upon a written request by the employee to the Manager, stating the reasons for the request.
- (b) An employee on leave without pay shall:
 - Accumulate seniority for the first month and retain the employee's seniority thereafter;
 - Retain the increment date unchanged for the first month and then have it adjusted to reflect the period of absence exclusive of the first month thereafter;

- (iii) Continue to receive the Employer's contribution to the pension, insured health and insured benefit plans for the first month (providing the employee pays his/her share if any) and remain in any or all of the above-noted thereafter providing the employee makes the necessary arrangements to pay the full costs;
- (iv) Continue to earn vacation leave for the first month of the leave and retain the employee's credits for the remainder of the leave.
- (c) In cases of educational or professional training leave and if a course is of direct benefit to the Library, the Employer may consider paying the salary or part thereof and the full tuition costs or part thereof. In such cases, the employee will not be considered on a leave without pay and may be required to give assurance that the employee will return to work for the Library for a period to be agreed on. While on such leave the employee will continue to accumulate service and seniority.
- (d) The employee may choose to cease the leave without pay at any time provided one month's written notice is given to the Manager.
- (e) Upon the expiry or the employee's cessation of the leave, the employee shall be returned to the employee's own job if available or another job while maintaining the employee's current salary.

*6.10 Public Holidays

- (a) Employees are entitled to the following public holidays with pay: New Year's Day, Family Day, Good Friday, Easter Monday, Victoria Day, Canada Day, Civic Holiday, Labour Day, National Day for Truth and Reconciliation, Thanksgiving Day, Remembrance Day, Christmas Day and Boxing Day. In addition to those set out above, any day proclaimed by the Governor General in Council or the Lieutenant Governor in Council for the Province shall be a statutory holiday.
- (b) A day designated as a recognized holiday, as set out in clause 6.10 (a), which coincides with an employee's day or days of rest, shall be celebrated at a mutually agreeable time no more than three (3) months after the public holiday. Leave in lieu of public holidays that has not been taken within the three (3) month period mentioned above shall be automatically paid out. Such payment will be at the employee's rate of pay applicable when the leave was earned.

- (c) An employee required to work on any of the holidays, as set out in clause 6.10 (a), shall be paid at the rate of one and one-half (1 ½) the employee's regular straight time hourly rate of pay for all hours worked on such holiday in addition to the pay for the holiday.
- (d) Part-time employees shall be entitled to the same public holidays outlined in the full-time working conditions. Payment of public holidays will be governed by the Average Working Day Formula if an employee is not scheduled to work on the Public Holiday. If an employee is scheduled to work on the Public Holiday, they will receive payment for the hours scheduled as payment of the Public Holiday.

6.11.1 Jury and Witness Duty Leave

- (a) Leave with pay shall be granted to every employee, other than an employee on leave without pay, who is required to:
 - (i) Attend the selection and/or serve on a jury, or
 - (ii) Attend as a witness by subpoena or summons.
- (b) The employee must notify the Manager and provide proof.

6.11.2 Court Duty

An employee on authorized vacation leave who is required to testify or is subpoenaed as a witness to give evidence on behalf of the Employer, shall have his/her vacation leave entitlement restored for the period of time required to attend court or any legal proceeding and will, in addition for the hours so required to attend, receive twice the employee's regular or normal salary.

6.12 Time Off for Voting

(a) Every employee who is a qualified elector in a municipal, provincial or federal election shall, for the purpose of casting his/her vote on an election day, be excused from his/her regular duties for a period sufficient to allow the employee three (3) consecutive hours while the polls are open, subject to the provisions of the applicable legislation, as amended from time to time.

(b) The above shall not apply if the employee works on any shift that provides an equal number of hours to vote as set out above, on the employee's own time.

6.13 Self-Funded Leave Plan

- (a) The Self-Funded Leave Plan is a system where employees of the Ottawa Public Library may fund prepaid leave for an extended period by an adjustment of normal salary over several years. The plan is voluntary and is established in accordance with a defined formula of income adjustment and prepaid leave. Similarly, the Employer assumes no responsibility for consequences arising from the plan from effects on pension income through OMERS, the Canada Pension Plan, income tax arrangements, Employment Insurance, or other liability arrangements arising from participation in the plan.
- (b) The plan is designed to give an employee self-funded, continuous, leave without pay for three (3) months out of a fifteen-month (15) period; for six (6) months out of a two and one-half (2½) year period; for nine (9) months out of a three and three-quarters (3¾) year period; or for one (1) year out of a five-year (5) period. During the funding period, the employee will receive 80% of normal salary. The deferral monies will be deposited in a trust account on behalf of the employee and interest will be accumulated. The sum of the amounts accumulated during the funding period will represent 80% of the employee's normal salary and will be paid in a lump sum at the beginning of the leave period.
- (c) The payment of salaries, benefits and pension contributions shall be such that the Employer is not required to pay more money than it would have paid for the period of active employment.
- (d) A leave of absence under this plan will be granted by the Chief Executive Officer.
- (e) Application to take part in the plan must be made in writing at least three (3) months before the start of the funding period. Applicants will be told if accepted at least one (1) month before deductions begin. The funding period will start at the beginning of a two-weekly pay period.
- (f) To take part in this plan, the employee must have been employed by the Library for five (5) consecutive years.

- (g) If there are more applicants for leave under this plan for any one leave period than can be accommodated, a choice shall be made by the Chief Executive Officer based on staffing needs.
- (h) On return from leave, the employee shall go back to the same or an equivalent position. If such placement is not possible, the employee shall be placed in the most appropriate position available keeping the same terms and conditions, including salary level, to which he/she was entitled at the beginning of the leave.
- (i) If the employee dies before receiving the full amount of deferred income, the Employer shall, on receipt of the required legal consents and releases, pay the remaining portion of accumulated salary plus accrued interest, less required deductions, to the executors or administrators of the estate in one lump sum in the year of death.
- (j) If an employee decides not to return to the Library after the leave, the Employer must be notified in writing as soon as possible but not later than one (1) month before the expiration of the leave.
- (k) If an employee retires at the end of the leave, the retirement gratuity will be based on the actual gross salary entitlement of the employee in the year before the leave.
- (I) An employee may apply to the Employer to withdraw from the plan. Withdrawals will be at the discretion of the Employer and can be considered only in cases of emergency such as proven financial hardship, serious illness or other extenuating circumstances.
- (m) On withdrawal from the plan, the accumulated salary deductions for the plan, plus accrued interest, must be paid to the employee by the Employer in a lump sum. The same conditions for repayment shall apply to employees who are terminated or leave the employ of the Library before the leave period.

*6.14 Domestic and Sexual Violence Leave

Any employee who qualifies for Domestic or Sexual Violence leave under the Employment Standards Act, 2000 as amended from time to time, shall be eligible for up to five (5) days of paid leave, non-cumulative, per year in addition to any paid leave provided by the Employment Standards Act, 2000 for this

purpose. Entitlement, application, and administration of this leave shall be done in accordance with the provisions outlined in the Employment Standards Act, 2000, as amended from time to time.

ARTICLE 7 - WORKPLACE SAFETY & INSURANCE ACT

*7.1 Every employee who is absent from duty as a result of an illness or injury arising from their employment within the meaning of the Workplace Safety & Insurance Act (WSIA) will be subject to the provisions of the Act.

*7.2 Benefits

L.

In any month in which an employee is on Workplace Safety and Insurance Benefits, the Employer shall pay on behalf of the employee, the full payment of premiums for the following plans in which such employees are enrolled:

- i. Pension
- ii. Extended health care plan as specified in the Collective Agreement
- iii. Dental plan
- iv. Basic life insurance
- v. Long term disability
- vi. Accidental Death and Dismemberment

A pension plan disability waiver may be available to an employee as early as the first day of the fifth month following the date of disability. Employees are required to apply for a disability waiver of contribution benefit upon receipt of the disability package from the pension plan (OMERS) and provide any documentation required to complete the application.

*7.3 Effective January 1, 2023, every permanent employee who has completed their probationary period and who is absent from duty as a result of illness or injury arising out of and in the course of their employment (within the meaning of the WSIA) shall be entitled to the following:

> Payment by the Employer equal to the employee's allowable loss of earnings benefits pursuant to the Workplace Safety and Insurance Act (WSIA benefit) from the date of disability as determined by the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB). The allowable loss of earnings benefits may be reduced to account for supplementary earnings and/or disability

payments (ex. CPP, QPP). While an eligible employee's claim is pending a decision by the WSIB, payment by the Employer under this paragraph is available to a maximum of eight (8) weeks.

II. The Employer shall also pay a top up to an employee, where applicable, which shall be the difference between the allowable loss of earnings benefits (currently 85% of the employee's pre-injury net average earnings as may be amended from time to time) pursuant to the WSIA and the employee's pre-injury net pay based on employee's core hours at the time of the injury/illness.

The combined effect of the employee's WSIA benefit and the top-up payment shall not exceed the employee's pre-injury core hour net pay.

It is recognized that this top-up is regular income and is subject to applicable deductions. The top-up only applies in respect to the actual duration of the approved claim.

If the employee's WSIA benefit is equal to or greater than the employee's pre-injury core hour net pay then the employee will be transferred to direct payment by the WSIB and all direct payments by the Employer will cease.

During the applicable payment period, this top-up may be discontinued if the Workplace Safety and Insurance Board (WSIB) reduces benefits or will be discontinued if the WSIB suspends or terminates benefits.

At the end of one year, should the employee remain on WSIB benefits, the employee will be transferred to direct payment by the WSIB, and all direct payments by the Employer will cease. For greater clarity, there shall be no further entitlement to top-up payments from the Employer.

Where a claim has been disallowed or discontinued by the WSIB all payments made by the Employer will be recovered from the employee's Income Protection Plan or from the employee directly if the employee is not eligible for Income Protection Plan benefits pursuant to Article 6.2. The Employer shall be deemed to be authorized pursuant to the *Employment Standards Act, 2000* to make deductions from the employee's bi-weekly gross pay in order

to recover overpayments made to the employees. Such deductions shall be ten percent (10%) of the employee's gross pay unless the employee agrees otherwise in writing. Nothing in this article prevents an employee from putting forward a request for compassionate relief for a lesser amount and such request shall not be unreasonably denied.

III. A Full-Time employee absent from work on Workplace Safety and Insurance benefits shall continue to earn vacation leave, as described in 6.1.1, for the first three (3) months of such absence.

ARTICLE 8 - PENSION

- 8.1 Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System (OMERS)
 - (a) The Ottawa Public Library Board participates in the Ontario Municipal Employees Retirement System. Full time employees must join OMERS effective the date employment starts.
 - (b) The employee and the Employer contribute to OMERS in accordance with the OMERS regulations.
 - (c) Part-time employees shall have the choice of whether or not to join the OMERS pension plan provided the OMERS requirements are met.

ARTICLE 9 - PROBATION PERIOD

- 9.1 (a) Full-time employees shall be on probation for a period of six (6) consecutive months from the date of hiring.
 - (b) Part-time employees shall be on probation for a period of four hundred and fifty-five (455) hours worked from the date of hiring, or for a period of twelve (12) consecutive months from the date of hiring, whichever occurs first.
 - (c) The probation period may be extended for a maximum of three (3) consecutive months by mutual agreement of the parties.

- (d) The Employer may release an employee on probation at any time without recourse to the Grievance Procedure and without the necessity to demonstrate just and sufficient cause for such release.
- (e) Employees on probation may apply for other positions within the Library, however, they will be required to complete a probation period in the new position. The probation period in the new position is not considered a "trial", as outlined in Article 11.

ARTICLE 10 - SENIORITY

10.1 (a) Seniority is defined as the length of continuous service with the Employer subject to completion of the probationary period and shall include service with the Employer prior to January 1, 2001 as agreed to in Appendix A (Seniority Dovetailing Calculations).

Effective January 1, 2001, the accrual of seniority shall be as follows:

- For full-time employees, the accrual of seniority shall be based upon five points per day to a maximum of 1825 points in a calendar year.
- (ii) For part-time employees, the accrual of seniority shall be based upon five points for every seven (7) hours worked to a maximum of 1825 points in a calendar year.
- (b) In the event that a casual employee becomes a full-time/part-time employee, he/she shall have his/her credits of hours worked converted into seniority in accordance with article 10.1 (a) (ii) and continue accruing seniority as per their status.
- (c) At each year-end the total number of points will be carried over into the subsequent year; however, there will be no carryover of accumulated hours. Hours accumulation will begin from zero at the start of each calendar year.

10.2 Accumulating Seniority

Seniority shall accumulate under the following circumstances:

(a) When the employee is on the active payroll of the Employer;

- (b) When the employee is off the payroll due to an authorized lay-off of not more than six (6) months;
- (c) When the employee is off the payroll for up to two (2) years due to an accident and is receiving compensation under the WSIA, and when the employee has not accepted employment with another employer;
- (d) When the employee is off the payroll on any leave of absence authorized by the Employer and/or under the provisions of this Agreement for a period of two (2) consecutive years except in those situations covered in clause 6.9.
- (e) When an employee is on authorized educational or professional leave.
- 10.3 Frozen Seniority

Seniority will not accrue when an employee accepts a temporary position / acting assignment outside of the bargaining unit. Seniority accumulated as at the date of transfer to the temporary position will be retained and reactivated upon the employee's return to the bargaining unit provided the employee has not been in a non-bargaining unit position for a period greater than twenty-four months and provided s/he continues to pay dues to the CUPE 503 during his/her tenure outside of the bargaining unit.

10.4 Losing Seniority

An employee shall lose his/her seniority when he/she:

- (a) Voluntarily resigns or leaves the employment of the Employer;
- (b) Is discharged and not reinstated;
- (c) Is absent from work without authorization for a period in excess of three (3) working days, in which case it shall be deemed to be a voluntary termination;
- (d) Fails to report to work within three (3) working days after having been notified of a recall to work following a lay-off unless the employee has a reason acceptable to the Employer;

- (e) Fails to return to work upon termination of authorized leave of absence unless the employee has a reason acceptable to the Employer, such failure shall be considered a voluntary termination;
- Accepts a permanent position outside of the bargaining unit and does not return to his/her position within the bargaining unit within six months;
- Accepts a temporary position outside of the bargaining unit for a period of greater than twenty-four months;
- (h) Opts not to pay Union dues to CUPE 503 while working in a position outside of the bargaining unit.

10.5 Seniority Lists

The Employer shall provide the Union in January of each year and every 4 months thereafter with a seniority list in order of seniority along with the ranking list for casual and temporary employees. The seniority list shall include the name, employment status, substantive department/branch, substantive work location, employee identification number, seniority, date of hire, substantive position title, and most recent address on file. The Employer agrees to inform the Union of any changes of address at the same time as they are made available to the Employer. The seniority list absent of employee number and home address will be available on the Employer's Intranet site.

*10.6 Definition of Continuous Service

No employee shall be deemed to have ceased to be continually employed by reason only of being absent from work on public holidays, on parts of regular working days or on any leave duly authorized under the provisions of this Agreement or because of any layoff lasting not more than ninety (90) calendar days, or because of an absence defined under the terms of the Workplace Safety and Insurance Act (WSIA), any other legislated job protected leave and consistent with the terms of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 11 - PROMOTIONS AND TRANSFERS

*11.1 (a) Subject to the Employer deciding to fill a vacancy when a position is vacated or notice is given that one will be vacated, or a new position

has been established, a notice of position vacancy together with the appropriate job specification shall be posted library-wide for fourteen (14) consecutive days. A vacancy known in advance to be for less than six (6) months may be filled, at the Employer's option, by temporary transfer as outlined in Article 11.5.

- (b) All applicants who meet the minimum requirements of the job specification shall be granted an interview by a selection board. The Employer shall notify successful candidates and shall post the name of successful candidates in all competitions. Such postings shall be made on the Employer's intranet site within thirty (30) calendar days of the effective date of appointment. Upon request, the Employer shall provide to unsuccessful candidates reasons for its decision.
- (c) The selection of the successful candidates shall be made on the basis of qualifications, knowledge, education and skills as set out in the job posting. Where two or more candidates for any one vacancy are relatively equal in respect of these criteria, the senior candidate shall be selected.
- (d) In the event an employee does not complete the trial period, the next highest rated employee in the job competition process may be selected without further competition. Any other employees who had been promoted or transferred because of the employee's return to their former position shall also be returned to their former position and salary.
- 11.2 An employee who is promoted to a position having a higher scale shall be paid at the salary rate next higher to the rate he/she received prior to his/her promotion, provided that his/her salary rate represents a minimum of one hundred and four per cent (104%) of the remuneration which the employee would have received in the next fifty-two (52) week period, had no promotion taken place.
- 11.3 A successful applicant from the bargaining unit shall be placed on trial for a period of three (3) months. The purpose of the trial is so that the employee can ascertain whether the work of the position is suitable to him/her and so that the Employer can determine if the employee is suitable and capable of performing the work of the position. While on such trial, the employee shall receive the salary of the higher rated position. As well, should the employee be confirmed in the position, this trial period will not delay the employee's

increment. Should the employee find the work suitable and should the Employer find the employee suitable and capable of performing the work of the position, after three (3) months the Employer shall confirm the employee in the position. However, should the employee find the work unsuitable or be incapable of performing the work of the position, the employee shall be returned to his/her former position and salary rate.

11.4 All job vacancy notices shall contain the following information: job title, qualifications, required knowledge and education, skills, shift, salary range or wage rate and work location. Such qualifications may not be established in an arbitrary or discriminatory manner.

*11.5 Temporary Transfer

Should the employer opt to fill a vacancy of less than six (6) months by temporary transfer, the employer will post an expression of interest library wide. This expression of interest will identify the job title, summary, and work location of the position to be filled.

Employees will be given five (5) consecutive calendar days from the date the expression of interest is posted to respond. All qualified employees who express interest will be considered. The temporary transfer will be at the employer's sole discretion.

ARTICLE 12 - LAYOFF AND RECALL

- 12.1 The Union shall be notified in advance of all layoffs and recalls.
- 12.2 A layoff shall be defined as a temporary cessation of work because of lack of work instituted by the Employer during which the employee is not paid.
- 12.3 In the event of a layoff, employees shall be laid off in the reverse order of their seniority.
- 12.4 Employees on layoff shall be recalled to work following such layoff in accordance with their seniority provided that they have the required knowledge and ability to perform the work available.
- 12.5 For clarification, an employee who is laid off shall be entitled to exercise his/her seniority in his/her current classification to displace a junior employee in that classification within the library system provided the employee

possesses the required qualifications and has the ability to perform the work required.

- 12.6 An employee who is unable to displace a junior employee in the same classification shall then seek to exercise his/her seniority in the same manner in the next lower classification.
- 12.7 No new employee shall be hired until any employees on layoff have been given an opportunity for re-employment consistent with the provisions of Article 12.4.
- 12.8 Should the Employer reinstate the position which triggered a layoff, the affected employees will have the right to return to said positions without competition for a period of up to three (3) years.
- 12.9 It is the responsibility of every employee to notify the Employer promptly of any change of address or telephone number. If an employee fails to make this notification to the Employer, the employee shall be responsible for failure of notice of recall to reach the employee.
- 12.10 It is understood and agreed that in the event of a lay-off, a part-time employee shall not be allowed to displace (bump) a full-time employee.
- 12.11 Lay-Off Notices

Copies of all lay-off notices shall be sent to the Union and shall contain the following information: the employee's name, seniority, classification, department, work location and employment status.

ARTICLE 13 - UNION REPRESENTATION

- 13.1 In order to provide for an orderly and speedy procedure for the settling of grievances, the Employer agrees to recognize as steward any employee appointed by the Union. The Union shall notify the Employer in writing of the names of such stewards at the time of their appointment. The Employer shall not be required to recognize any stewards until it has been so notified.
- 13.2 (a) The Union recognizes that each steward is employed by the Employer and that he/she will not leave his/her work during working hours to

perform his/her duties as a steward except in accordance with this Collective Agreement.

- (b) No steward shall leave his/her work to perform his/her duties as a steward without obtaining the permission of his/her immediate supervisor. Permission may be given within an hour of the request unless an emergency situation requires the employee to continue his/her work for the Employer, in which case the steward shall be permitted to immediately contact the Union office.
- (c) When requesting permission to leave his/her work during working hours to perform his/her duties as a steward, the steward shall indicate the anticipated time of return and should it be necessary to revise the time of return, he/she shall notify his/her immediate supervisor. The steward shall report to his/her immediate supervisor upon his/her return to work.
- (d) The Union recognizes that a steward shall not use such time away from his/her work except to perform his/her duties as a steward.
- 13.3 The Union may appoint up to thirty (30) stewards to represent members of the bargaining unit.
- 13.4 An employee shall have the right to have a Union Representative and/or Steward present at any discussion with management, or supervisory personnel, which the employee believes, might be the basis of disciplinary action. Where a supervisor intends to interview any employee for disciplinary purposes, the supervisor shall so notify the employee in advance of the purpose of the interview and of the employee's right to have union representation at the meeting
- 13.5 In January of each year, the Union shall provide the Employer with a current list of:
 - Members of the Executive of CUPE 503, Library Group, including name, title and contact information;
 - Grievance officers, including name, title and contact information;
 - Stewards, including name, substantive work location and telephone number.

FROM JANUARY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2024

*ARTICLE 14 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- 14.1 For the purposes of this Agreement, a grievance is a complaint, which has been reduced to writing respecting the meaning and/or application of the provisions of this Agreement and all matters pertaining thereto. A grievance may concern a difference arising between an employee and the Employer or the Union and the Employer.
- 14.2 Complaint Step

The Parties to this Agreement share a desire to address employee complaints as quickly as possible. An employee shall discuss his/her complaint with his/her immediate supervisor within ten (10) days of the occurrence giving rise to the complaint, so as to afford the supervisor an opportunity to resolve the complaint. The employee may be accompanied by a representative of the Union when the complaint is being discussed with the supervisor.

- 14.3 It is agreed that an employee shall not file a grievance until he/she has discussed his/her complaint with his/her supervisor in accordance with clause 14.2
- 14.4 When an employee has presented his/her complaint to his/her supervisor and the complaint has not been resolved to his/her satisfaction within ten (10) days of the complaint, the employee may file a grievance with the Union Grievance Committee. The grievance must be signed and dated by the employee within thirty (30) days of the day on which the employee was notified, or became aware of the incident giving rise to the grievance or within ten (10) days of the receipt of the employee's supervisor's reply to the employee's complaint, whichever shall last occur.

Step 1

When an employee has filed a grievance with the Union Grievance Committee, the Union may, within ten (10) days from the date thereof, present the grievance to the employee's manager or designate, with a copy to the Chief Executive Officer or designate. The employee's manager shall meet with the grievor and the Union representative within ten (10) days from the day on which it was received by the employee's manager and shall, within ten (10) days from the meeting, render a decision in writing.

FROM JANUARY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2024

14.5 If the employee's manager or designate:

- (i) Fails to meet the grievor and the Union representative; or
- (ii) Fails to render his/her decision to the grievor and the Union representative within the time prescribed in Step 1, or
- (iii) The decision is not acceptable to the grievor and the Union representative;

the Union Grievance Committee may forward a copy of the grievance to the Chief Executive Officer within thirty (30) days from the day on which the grievance was received by the employee's manager.

14.6 Step 2

The Chief Executive Officer or designate shall, within ten (10) days of the date the grievance was received, meet with the grievor and the Union representative, and shall within ten (10) days of the meeting, notify the Union in writing of the decision with regard to the grievance.

14.7 In the event the decision of the Chief Executive Officer or designate is not acceptable to the Union or if the Chief Executive Officer fails to comply with Clause 14.6, the Union may notify the Chief Executive Officer of the Union's desire to submit the grievance to arbitration for final disposition in accordance with the procedure for Arbitration of Grievances contained in this Agreement, within thirty (30) days of the receipt by the Union office of the decision.

14.8 Employer Grievance

In the event that the Chief Executive Officer or designate is unable to resolve a matter referred by the Employer to the Union Grievance Committee, the Chief Executive Officer or designate may notify the Chair of the Union Grievance Committee, within ten (10) days of the receipt by the Chief Executive Officer or designate, of the decision of the Chair of the Union Grievance Committee, that the Employer desires to submit the grievance to arbitration for final disposition, in accordance with the procedure for Arbitration of Grievances contained in this Agreement.

14.9 Discharge Grievance

Where a grievance relates to the discharge of an employee, the grievance procedure shall start with the Chief Executive Officer or designate in accordance with Step 2, clause 14.6

14.10 Policy Grievance

Where a policy grievance is initiated by the Union, the grievance procedure shall start with the Chief Executive Officer or designate in accordance with Step 2, clause 14.6.

- 14.11 At any stage in the grievance procedure the grievor may be present and shall be represented by the Union in the presentation of their complaint or grievance.
- 14.12 The time limits expressed in this Article are working days and may only be extended by mutual agreement between the Union and the Chief Executive Officer.

ARTICLE 15 - ARBITRATION PROCEDURE – GRIEVANCES

- 15.1 Any dispute or grievance concerning the interpretation or alleged violation of this Agreement including any question as to whether a matter is arbitrable which having passed through the grievance procedure outlined in the above article still remains unresolved, may be submitted to arbitration. Either party to the Agreement desirous of exercising this provision shall give notice of intention to the other party and at the same time appoint its member to the Board of Arbitration. The other party shall, within a period of seven (7) working days, appoint its member to the Board of Arbitration. The two members thus appointed shall confer jointly in an endeavour to select a third member who shall be the Chair of the Board. The parties may mutually agree to use a single arbitrator as outlined in Clause 15.7 in lieu of a Board.
- 15.2 If within ten (10) working days the two (2) members have not reached agreement, the matter shall be referred to the Minister of Labour of the Province of Ontario who shall appoint a Chair. The decision of the Board of Arbitration shall be final and binding on both parties to the Agreement as well as upon the Employee or Employees involved in the dispute.

- 15.3 The Board of Arbitration or single Arbitrator shall not have any power to alter or change any provision in this Agreement or to substitute any new provision for an existing provision nor to render any decision inconsistent with the terms and content of this Agreement.
- 15.4 Each party shall bear the expenses of its own member and shall bear equally the expense of the Chair or the single Arbitrator and all other expenses of the arbitration.
- 15.5 In the case of an Employee who has been found to be unjustly suspended or discharged, the employee shall be reinstated and have all rights and benefits restored.
- 15.6 Nevertheless, in any situation where the Board of Arbitration or the single Arbitrator determines that there is cause for discipline, suspension or discharge, it shall have the power to modify any penalty imposed by the Employer and to take whatever other action is just and equitable in the circumstances.

15.7 List of Arbitrators

The Union and the Chief Executive Officer shall, by mutual agreement, establish a list of "agreed to" arbitrators, who may be used as determined by the parties sitting as single arbitrators or as members of Arbitration Boards as described in 15.1.

*15.8 Alternate Process

The parties, hereby, agree that the expeditious resolution of workplace disputes is mutually beneficial. The parties will schedule grievances referred to arbitration under Article 15 through regular pre-arbitration meetings for either arbitration or to a mediation/arbitration process agreed to between the parties.

FROM JANUARY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2024

ARTICLE 16 - UNION SECURITY

- 16.1 The Employer shall deduct from the pay-cheques of present members of the Union and all future employees represented by the Union all normal dues chargeable by the Union and shall remit the same to the Secretary-Treasurer of the Union bi-weekly. "Normal Dues" shall not include entrance fees or special assessments levied by the Union. Following the negotiation of a new Collective Agreement, the dues retroactively owed by members, if any, shall be deducted from the members' retroactive pay-cheques and remitted to the Secretary-Treasurer of the Union.
- 16.2 The Employer shall supply a dues check-off list to the Union on a monthly basis. The list shall set out the employees' names in alphabetical order along with their branch/department, position title and most recent address on file and the amount of dues they have paid during the preceding month and on a year-to-date basis.
- 16.3 The Employer shall supply the following information to the Secretary-Treasurer on a once-a-month basis, the dollar amount of the CUPE Local 503 bargaining unit payroll for all their regular hours.

ARTICLE 17 - BENEFITS

17.1 Benefits

Except where the Employer is self-insured (with or without an administrative services agreement):

- (a) the Employer's obligation is restricted to contracting with Insurer(s) and payment of its portion of the premiums necessary to provide the employees the specific benefits and entitlements set out in this Article.
- (b) Any dispute as to an employee's entitlement to benefits provided under the contract is between the employee and the Insurer, and the Employer shall have no obligation to resolve or intervene in these disputes.

For the purposes of this Article an administrative services agreement is one in which the Employer is the self-insurer for a benefit and contracts out the analysis of and payment of benefits claims for that benefit under this Article on its behalf.

FROM JANUARY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2024

17.2 Eligibility

- (a) Employees shall be entitled to the benefits provided for in this Article upon the completion of six (6) months of continuous service. Coverage for an employee is subject to eligibility requirements as described by the Insurer under the specific plans.
 - (b) Part-time employees with a weekly average of 17.5 hours, calculated using the Average Working Day Formula for one week will be entitled to the benefits listed in this Article.

17.3 Restriction and Limitations

Certain limitations and exclusions for coverage may apply. Insurable benefits payable under OHIP or other medicare plans equivalent to OHIP from another province or territory shall not be payable under the Extended Health Plan.

17.4 Premiums

The Employer shall deduct from the employee's pay the employee's share of the cost of the premiums. Premiums are subject to change based on any negotiated plan changes, the annual January 1st renewal and any other legislated requirements, as applicable.

*17.5 Extended Health Care

- (a) The Employer agrees to pay one hundred percent (100%) of the cost of the monthly premium of the Health Plan for employees covered thereby.
- (b) Coverage shall include:
 - i. Para-medical package: para-medical services above the amount covered by any provincial plan, including physiotherapist, chiropractor, osteopath, chiropodist, podiatrist, naturopath, speech therapist, masseur, acupuncturist to a combined maximum of \$1,250 per person per calendar year.

Psychologist, psychotherapist, and social worker services above the amount covered by any provincial plan, to a combined maximum of \$1,500 per person per calendar year.

A medical prescription will be required once every twelve (12) consecutive calendar months for massage therapy.

- ii. Extended Health Care Plan: a deductible of \$2.00 per prescription; drug coverage with 90% reimbursement; a maximum of five (5) dispensing fees per calendar year for each maintenance drug; diabetic test strips to a maximum of four hundred (400) strips per year for non-insulin dependent diabetics and a maximum of three thousand (3,000) strips per year for insulin dependent diabetics; enhanced generic drug substitution will apply; orthotics to a maximum of \$300 per person per calendar year; registered nurse in your home to a maximum of \$25,000 in any calendar year; certain other prescribed medical supplies and services to specified maximums; semi-private hospital coverage; and hearing aid coverage of up to \$1000 per claimant every seven (7) years.
- Vision Care Plan: up to \$375 net per claimant every twenty-four (24) months.

Coverage for eye examinations with a maximum of \$80 every twenty-four (24) months

17.6 Dental Plan

- (a) The Employer agrees to pay seventy-five percent (75%) of the cost of the monthly premium of the Dental Plan for employees covered thereby. The balance of the premium shall be paid by the employee.
- (b) The Employer shall ensure that the coverage is such that it provides full payment in accordance with the current O.D.A. schedule of fees.
- (c) Maximum reimbursement of basic and major restorative services, including dentures, combined at \$1,500 per calendar year, this coverage shall include:
 - 90% reimbursement of Basic Services;
 - 80% reimbursement for Dentures;
 - 50% reimbursement for Major Restorative Services such as crowns and bridges;
- (d) 50% reimbursement for Orthodontics with a \$3,000 lifetime maximum per claimant.

17.7 Basic Life Insurance and Accidental Death and Dismemberment.

- (a) The Employer agrees to pay one hundred percent (100%) of the cost of the monthly premiums of the Basic Life Insurance for employees to provide insurance of two times an employee's basic salary with a minimum coverage of \$100,000 per employee.
- (b) Optional Life Insurance

The Employer agrees to provide coverage for the purchase by employees for insurance for employees and their eligible dependant spouse in units of \$10,000 to a maximum of \$700,000 per covered individual provided the employee pays the full premium.

(c) Voluntary Accidental Death and Dismemberment Insurance

The Employer agrees to provide Voluntary Accidental Death and Dismemberment Insurance for purchase by employees for accident insurance in units of \$10,000 to a maximum of \$250,000 and for an employee's spouse and dependents as a percentage of his/her coverage provided the employee pays the full premium.

17.8 Long Term Disability

- (a) The Employer agrees to pay one hundred percent (100%) of the cost of the monthly premium of the Long Term Disability plan for employees covered thereby and which includes the following:
 - Benefits of 75% of the employee's salary or wage earned on the date of disability;
 - Benefits shall commence seventeen (17) weeks after the initial date of disability;
 - The Long Term Disability benefits will be increased annually to the CPI index to a maximum of 4%;
 - iv. While the employee is in receipt of Long Term Disability Benefits, the Employer agrees to pay 100% of the premium cost of the following benefits:

- Extended Health Care
- Group Life Insurance
- Dental Insurance
- Accidental Death & Dismemberment
- (b) Definition of Total Disability

Totally disabled means that, during the qualifying period and the 24month period immediately following it, the employee has a medical impairment due to injury or disease which prevents him/her from performing the essential duties of the occupation in which he/she participated just before the total disability started.

After the 24 months, totally disabled and total disability means that the employee is unable, because of a medical impairment, to perform the essential duties of any occupation for which he/she has at least the minimum qualifications and would earn more than 75% of his/her indexed pre-disability monthly earnings.

- (c) An employee's position may be declared vacant though the employee may be receiving Long Term Disability (LTD) benefits, after the expiry of two (2) years from the initial date of disability.
- (d) Should a person who has been on Long Term Disability (LTD) benefits wish to return to work, the employee shall provide the Employer with a satisfactory medical certificate, and the Employer will endeavor to secure suitable employment consistent with the employee's education, qualifications, training and ability. This shall be in accordance with the Employer's duty to accommodate disabled employees.
- (e) An employee absent from work on Long Term Disability (LTD) shall not earn/accumulate annual vacation leave credits while on such leave.
- 17.9 The Employer will inform the Union as to any changes in the Benefit Plan and provide the Union with an updated copy of the Master Policy Plan Document. The Employer agrees to post the benefits information for employees on the Employer Intranet.

(a)	Employees working beyond age sixty-five (65) will be entitled to the
(d)	following modified benefit coverage:
	 Extended health care without "Out of Country Coverage" and "Drug coverage"
	 Extended health care for dependent children and spouse below age 65, without "Out of Country Coverage" but including "Drug Coverage".
	 Dental Insurance including coverage for an eligible spouse and dependents.
	 \$25,000 Basic life insurance
	 A maximum of seventeen (17) weeks of short term sick leave (Income protection Plan) annually. This entitlement will be subject to the provisions of the collective agreement.
	 Optional Life including optional life coverage for an eligible spouse available to purchase up to age seventy (70), subject to the insurer eligibility requirements. Optional Life coverage for the employee or eligible spouse, acquired before the age of seventy (70), can be extended until the employee's termination of employment.
	 Optional Critical Illness including optional critical illness coverage for an eligible spouse and dependents, subject to the insurer eligibility requirements. All Optional Critical Illness coverage for employee, eligible spouse and/or dependents terminates when the employee reaches age seventy (70).
(b)	Coverage details for benefits provided in paragraph (a) above will be as defined in the Benefits Plan Document
(c)	Cost sharing for the benefits plan will be in accordance with the formula contained in the collective agreement.
(d)	Employees will no longer be covered for the following benefits from age sixty-five (65):
	 All Accidental Death and Dismemberment (AD&D) for employee and family
	 Long Term Disability (LTD) benefits

(e) The benefit coverage described in (a) above will take effect the first of the month following the month the employee turns 65.

17.11 E.I. Reductions

The parties agree that any amount of any reduction in premiums under the Employment Insurance Act granted by the Employment Insurance Commission are and shall remain vested with the Employer in consideration of other provisions made in the Employee Benefit Program.

17.12 Voluntary Critical Illness Insurance

The Employer agrees to provide the option for the employee, their spouse and dependent children, to purchase voluntary critical illness insurance ranging from \$10,000 to \$150,000, one hundred percent (100%) paid by the employee, in multiples of \$5,000.

17.13 Benefits for Retirees

The Employer will continue to provide benefits for retirees in accordance with the current practice and the current cost sharing arrangements.

17.14 Optional Enhanced Retiree Benefit Plan

Effective January 1, 2013, the Employer will offer an optional enhanced benefit plan for retirees up to age 65. The conditions and eligibility requirements will be as described in the new plan. This entitlement will not be applicable retroactively to employees who retired prior to January 1, 2013.

ARTICLE 18 - LABOUR MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

- 18.1 A committee known as the Labour / Management Committee shall consist of two (2) representatives from the Union and two (2) representatives from the Employer. The committee structure may be amended as required and agreed upon between the parties.
- 18.2 The committee shall meet as soon as possible but within at least seven (7) working days of the request by either party.

18.3 The purpose of such meetings shall be to discuss issues relating to the workplace which affect the parties or any employee bound by this agreement. However, the parties recognize that matters which are Health and Safety issues shall be dealt with by the Health and Safety Committee, and matters that fall under the Collective Agreement shall be dealt with by the Negotiation Committee or under the grievance and arbitration procedures and not by the Labour / Management Committee.

ARTICLE 19 - PERSONNEL FILES

19.1 Access

An employee shall have the right upon sufficient notice to have access to his/her personnel file and shall have the right to respond in writing to any document contained therein. Such reply shall become part of the permanent record. With the written permission of the employee, a Union Representative or Shop Steward shall also have the right of access to an employee's personnel file.

*19.2 Discipline

- (a) Any notice of disciplinary action including any correspondence in relation to such discipline which may have been placed on the personnel file of an employee shall be removed after not more than eighteen (18) months have elapsed since the disciplinary action has been taken provided that no further similar disciplinary action has been recorded. Notwithstanding this Article, both parties acknowledge the Employer's obligations under Bill 168.
- (b) While the Employer may provide a written statement to counsel, communicate and identify or clarify expected behaviour in the performance of job duties to an employee in non-disciplinary letters of instruction and/or expectation, the Employer may not disguise discipline in the form of a letter of instruction and/or expectation. Such letters shall be removed after not more than eighteen (18) months of employment have elapsed since the letter was delivered, provided that no further related letters of instruction and/or expectation and/or disciplinary action have been recorded. Leaves of two (2) or more consecutive months will be carved out of this timeline.

ARTICLE 20 - SALARIES

- 20.1 All employees shall be paid every two (2) weeks on Thursday. Payment is made through a compulsory direct deposit plan to the financial institution of their choice.
- 20.2 On leaving the Library, an employee shall receive the final cheque on the pay day coinciding with or next following the last day of work.

20.3 Salary Increments

The normal salary increment date shall be the annual anniversary of the employee's appointment subject to the provisions of 6.9 (b) (ii).

- (a) The normal effective date for implementation of a full-time employee's salary increment within a pay range shall be the first day of the appropriate salary increment date.
- (b) For part-time employees, salary increments will be given after completing eighteen hundred and twenty (1820 hours) or eighteen (18) months, whichever occurs first.
- (c) For casual employees, salary increments will be given after completing eighteen hundred and twenty (1820) hours.
- 20.4 An employee who is promoted to a position having a higher salary scale, or whose position has been classified upward, shall be paid at the salary rate next higher to the rate he/she received prior to his/her promotion, provided that his/her salary rate represents a minimum of one hundred and four per cent (104%) of the remuneration which the employee would have received in the next fifty-two (52) week period had no promotion taken place. The effective date of the promotion will become the date for establishing the date of implementation of future salary increments.

20.5 Salary Protection on Downward Reclassification

When a position has been reclassified downward the employee shall be placed on the wage grid in the new classification at the first step which is not less than the employee's present salary. Should the employee's salary be in excess of the maximum step in the new classification, the employee's

salary shall be frozen until the salary of the new classification exceeds the employee's frozen salary. At that time, the employee shall be eligible for salary increases pursuant to the Collective Agreement.

ARTICLE 21 - JOINT OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH & SAFETY

- 21.1 The Employer and the Union shall endeavour to provide a safe and healthy environment for employees through their Joint Occupational Health and Safety Committee.
- 21.2 The Employer shall provide occupational health and safety education and training to its employees to ensure that they are aware of and engage in safe work practices to minimize the risk of occupational injury and illness. The Library Health and Safety Committee, which includes union representation, shall review the Library's training and education programs on an ongoing basis.
- 21.3 The Employer and the Union will ensure that terms of reference are established for the Occupational Health and Safety Committee with bargaining unit member participation.
- 21.4 Training for Occupational Health and Safety Committee members, mandated by the Terms of Reference, shall be delivered jointly where possible.
- 21.5 Should there be a need for leave for special programs, initiatives or training requirements identified through the Terms of Reference, the Chief Executive Officer shall consider such a request from the President of the Union. If the President's request is agreed to by the Chief Executive Officer, the President of the Union shall designate one or more Union health and safety representative(s) and the representative(s) shall be entitled to paid leave with full benefits for the duration of the fulfillment of the request.

FROM JANUARY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2024

ARTICLE 22 - JOB SECURITY

- 22.1 No regular employee covered by this Collective Agreement will suffer a reduction in hours of work or be laid off as a result of the contracting out of work or services that were being performed by members of the bargaining unit.
- 22.2 The Employer agrees that employees not covered by the terms of this agreement will not perform duties normally assigned to persons in the bargaining unit unless no other bargaining unit member is available to do the work or as may otherwise be mutually agreed to by the parties in writing.

22.3 Volunteers

The parties recognize the historic use of volunteers in the rural branches. It is agreed that the use of volunteers will continue to have a useful function at the Library.

- (a) The use of volunteers shall not lead to the replacement, transfer, reassignment, or layoff of bargaining unit employees, to a reduction in their hours, or to the elimination of positions in the bargaining unit.
- (b) The Employer shall endeavor to reduce the performance of bargaining unit work by volunteers.
- (c) The Employer agrees to provide the Union with the following information three (3) times a year:
 - Total number of volunteers used in the previous quarter by location;
 - Total hours of service provided by these volunteers by location.

The parties agree that the use of volunteers will be discussed at the Labour / Management Committee.

FROM JANUARY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2024

ARTICLE 23 - ACTING PAY

23.1 Qualifying Pay

When an employee is directed to temporarily perform the full duties of a position in a classification having a higher salary range for a period of five (5) or more continuous working days, the employee shall receive acting pay retroactive to the first day.

23.2 Acting Pay Calculation

Employees entitled to acting pay shall be paid the first year rate in the position in which the employee is acting or the equivalent to a placement in the new salary range which will give the employee at least 104% of the employee's present normal salary. In no case, however, shall such acting pay exceed the maximum of the applicable salary range.

An employee who is in an acting position for one (1) year or more shall, subject to satisfactory performance, be eligible to receive an increment in the salary scale in which the employee is acting.

It is recognized that upon return from acting to the employee's position, the employee's increment date remains unchanged and the employee will be returned to the salary scale of his/her position at the increment level to which the employee is entitled in accordance with Article 20.

23.3 Increment Date Upon Appointment

Should an employee, acting in a position, be officially appointed to that position, the date the employee commenced acting duties shall be the employee's new increment date.

23.4 Promotional Increase from an Acting Appointment

The salary placement of an employee, acting in one position, who is promoted to another position while acting, shall be based upon the employee's normal salary, not the acting salary, unless acting for over twelve (12) months, in which case the salary placement shall be based upon the Acting Pay.

FROM JANUARY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2024

ARTICLE 24 - ORGANIZATIONAL OR TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGES

24.1 Union Representation at Meetings

An employee shall have the right to have a Union Representative and/or Steward present at the redundancy notification meeting between the Employer and the employee who is declared surplus under this Article. Where a Manager or designate intends to meet an employee to inform an employee of their surplus status, the Manager or designate shall notify the employee in advance of the purpose of the meeting and of the employee's right to have union representation at the meeting.

24.2 Sequence of Application

The application for the organizational and technological changes provisions shall be in accordance with the sequence provided below.

24.3 Notice

When the Employer is proposing the introduction or implementation of technological or organizational change which may result in employees/positions being declared surplus/redundant:

- (a) The Employer agrees to notify the Union as far as possible in advance of its intentions and to update the information provided as new developments arise and modifications are made.
- (b) The foregoing notwithstanding, the Employer shall provide the Union in advance of the organizational and/or technological change, with the detailed description of the project it intends to carry out and the intended effects on employees/positions within the organization.
- (c) The Employer agrees to provide the employee with a minimum of three (3) calendar months' notice of redundancy. This three (3) calendar month period shall consist of a job search period during which the surplus employee shall have priority rights to permanent vacancies.
- (d) An employee will be given thirty (30) calendar days' notice prior to the effective date of placement into a vacant position.

24.4 Placement

(a) Same or Lower Level

The incumbent in any position which has been declared surplus or redundant, as a result of organizational or technological changes may be placed in any vacant position at the employee's classification level or below without competition. An employee is under no obligation to accept a placement at a lower level.

- (b) Placement Process Single Redundancy
 - (i) A surplus employee will be granted a choice between the placement opportunities available on the date he/she is declared surplus at his/her pay grade or lower.
 - (ii) Once the employee has selected a vacant position, the selection is frozen and the employee's name is removed from the job search list.
 - (iii) Once the employee has frozen his/her job selection, the thirty (30) calendar day countdown to placement starts. The employee may elect to waive the thirty (30) calendar day notice in part or in whole.
 - (iv) At the end of the three (3) calendar month job search period, if the employee has not already selected a job, he/she will be placed in the vacancy of his/her choice as of that day. Should the employee not indicate a placement preference, the Employer will place the employee in a vacant position at the employee's substantive pay grade and job status or proceed with the remainder of Article 24 below if there are no vacancies left.
- (c) Placement Process Multiple Simultaneous Redundancies
 - (i) Where multiple redundancies are announced within a fourteen (14) calendar day period, vacancies at the affected employees' pay grade or below will be offered on a seniority basis to the affected employees. Employees will select a vacancy on the basis of seniority as established on the fourteenth (14th) day.

- Once an employee has selected a vacant position, the selection is frozen and the employee's name is removed from the job search list.
- (iii) Once an employee has frozen his/her job selection, the thirty (30) calendar day countdown to placement starts. The employee may elect to waive the thirty (30) calendar day notice in part or in whole.
- (iv) At the end of the three (3) calendar month job search period, employees who have not already selected a job will be placed in the vacancy of their choice as of that day by seniority. Should an employee not indicate a placement preference, the Employer will place the employee in a vacant position at the employee's substantive pay grade and job status or proceed with the remainder of Article 24 below if there are no vacancies left.

(d) Higher Level

If no placement is possible as per paragraph (a) above, the Employer may in exceptional circumstances place an employee into a vacant position at a higher pay grade than the employee's substantive pay grade. The employee must have the gualifications and ability required to perform the normal duties of the position such that he/she would be deemed to be "job ready" to perform the normal duties of the position within a familiarization period of six (6) calendar weeks. Should more than one employee be deemed qualified as per above, the most senior employee shall be placed in the position without competition. In all instances, the appointed employee will complete a three (3) calendar month trial period. Should the employee find the work unsuitable or the Employer find the employee unsuitable or incapable of performing the work of the position, the employee shall be entitled to further consideration for priority placement under Clause 24.4 or shall be afforded the remaining rights or entitlements set out in Article 24. It is understood that time spent in the higher level position will not suspend the job search period.

24.5 Retraining

If a placement in accordance with Clause 24.4 above is not possible and if a vacancy exists for which the employee can be retrained by the Employer

within a period of six (6) months, the Employer shall retrain the employee for the position. This option shall be subject to the agreement of the employee.

24.6 If the employee is placed in a lower level position, the employee would maintain his/her rate of pay. As increases in pay are negotiated, the employee would be entitled to receive only one-half (1/2) the negotiated increase until the employee's higher rate of pay falls within the pay band of the position into which he/she was placed.

24.7 Bumping

(a) If an employee cannot be placed in accordance with Clauses 24.4and 24.5, the employee shall be entitled to exercise his/her seniority and bump a junior employee in his/her branch at an equal or lower pay grade (Main Library is considered a branch and includes employees working at the Sir Richard Scott Building and the Materials Distribution Centre including Collection Access, Collection Development and Material Delivery) or the employee can bump the most junior employee in an equal or lower pay grade and at an equal or lower job status at another branch.

A part-time employee shall not be allowed to bump a full-time employee.

In order to bump, an employee must have the qualifications and ability actually required to perform the normal duties of the position.

- (b) Employees who have been bumped as a result of an organizational or technological change shall be eligible to exercise their rights under this Article with the exception of the job search period being limited to one (1) calendar month from the date of bumping.
- (c) It is recognized that bumping under this Article is not a layoff, as defined in Article 12.

24.8 Severance Pay

Should the employee not be placed in accordance with clause 24.4 or clause 24.5, including not accepting placement into a lower level position and should the employee not exercise his/her rights under clause 24.7, then the employee shall receive a severance pay as follows:

- One (1) year but less than three (3) years of service two (2) months;
- Three (3) years but less than five (5) years of service three (3) months;
- Five (5) years but less than ten (10) years of service four and a half (4 ¹/₂) months;
- Ten (10) years but less than sixteen (16) years of service seven (7) months;
- Sixteen (16) years but less than twenty (20) years of service ten (10) months;
- Twenty (20) years but less than twenty-five (25) years of service fourteen (14) months;
- Twenty-five (25) or more years of service eighteen (18) months.

Payment shall be made at the rate of pay of the employee's redundant substantive position.

Severance pay for part-time employees shall be calculated based on the employee's core hours or on the average working day formula, whichever is greater.

It is agreed that the severance payments outlined in this Collective Agreement incorporate any pay in lieu of notice and/or severance pay provided under the *Employment Standards Act*.

FROM JANUARY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2024

ARTICLE 25 - GENERAL

*25.1 Automobile Allowance

An employee authorized by management to travel on library business or to attend a meeting at one of the branches or elsewhere within city limits, will be reimbursed at the rate of \$0.53 per kilometer (Effective January 1, 2022 will increase to \$0.56/km) for all kilometers driven on OPL business.

*25.2 Uniforms and Protective Footwear

Employees who are required by the Employer to purchase protective footwear shall be reimbursed annually up to one hundred and seventy-five (\$175) including taxes, for the purchase of protective footwear.

Every third year, employees who are required by the Employer to wear a uniform will be issued seven (7) shirts and seven (7) pairs of pants.

25.3 Number or Gender

Whenever the singular or feminine is used in the Agreement, it shall be considered as if the plural or masculine has been used where the context so requires.

25.4 Legal Protection

The Employer agrees to continue to provide legal protection to employees in those situations arising directly from the responsible discharge of official duties by the employee or resulting from the carrying out of an official order or orders.

25.5 Job Evaluation/Pay Equity

The Joint Job Evaluation/Pay Equity Committee will be mandated to deal with matters of job evaluation and pay equity as set out in the Manual of Maintenance Procedures of the Joint Job Evaluation / Pay Equity Program dated October 2004.

Ratings resulting in an employee's downward reclassification will be administered in accordance with Article 20.5 – Salary Protection on Downward Reclassification.

The Parties agree that Job Rating Reviews can be requested, where there has been a major change to the duties, and/or responsibilities, and/or job requirements, or where there is a new and unique permanent or temporary job. Such reviews are not subject to the grievance and arbitration process set out in Articles 14 and 15, but instead will be handled in accordance with the Job Rating Review Procedure, which includes the Referee Procedure, as set out in the Manual of Maintenance Procedures of the Joint Job Evaluation/Pay Equity Program.

The Employer will provide the Union with a copy of all job descriptions for jobs within the bargaining unit. The Employer will also provide the Union with updated job descriptions as they are amended.

*25.6 Transit Subsidy

In order to encourage the use of public transit by employees, a permanent full-time employee may register for a PRESTO Smartcard to purchase OC Transpo monthly pass products. Once registered an employee shall be entitled to an annual 25% reimbursement of the total annual amount of OC Transpo monthly passes purchased on his or her PRESTO Smartcard provided that:

- The employee signs a yearly declaration affirming that the purchase of the OC Transpo pass through their PRESTO Smartcard is for their personal use only, and
- (ii) The employee provides their *PRESTO Transit Usage Report* showing the number and cost of monthly passes purchased during the year. Such proof must be submitted with their claim for reimbursement by March 31 of the year immediately following the calendar year being claimed.

*25.7 Bulletin Boards

The Union may post notices of interest to employees.

The Employer shall provide a minimum of one (1) Union bulletin board in each Branch with the exception of Branches where space does not permit the installation of a bulletin board. In such case, a dedicated binder will be provided and kept at the information desk or some other reasonably accessible location. The bulletin board or binder shall be for the exclusive

use of CUPE 503 Library Group for the purpose of posting notices of meetings and matters of interest to the Union membership.

The Employer will provide the Union with a list of branches where it is not feasible for a Union bulletin board to be installed.

ARTICLE 26 - CATEGORIES OF EMPLOYEES

- 26.1 Full-time employees are permanent employees who are regularly scheduled for twenty-five (25) hours or more per week.
- 26.2 Part-time employees are permanent employees who are regularly scheduled for less than twenty-five (25) hours per week.
- 26.3 Casual (On-call) employees are employees who are hired to replace permanent employees who are absent from work under the terms of this agreement or other work commitments when no permanent employees are available to perform the duties/work or to cover unforeseen circumstances on a short notice when no regular part-time employees are available.

In the event that a Casual employee becomes a permanent employee, he/she shall have his/her credits of hours worked converted into seniority in accordance with the method of calculating seniority for permanent employees.

ARTICLE 27 - SEVERANCE PROCEDURE

- 27.1 On termination of employment for any reason, employees must on or before their final working day:
 - (a) Turn in their employee identification card to their Manager or designate;
 - (b) Turn in any keys to their Manager or designate;
 - (c) Turn in Library related electronic files / documents to their Manager or designate.
 - (d) Turn in Library-owned electronic equipment (e.g. cell phone, palm pilot, laptop, etc.) to their Manager or designate.

FROM JANUARY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2024

ARTICLE 28 - COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT VARIATIONS SPECIFIC TO CASUAL EMPLOYEES

The provisions of the Collective Agreement shall apply to casual employees except as amended below:

- Article 4 <u>Hours of Work</u> Not applicable except for clause 4.5 Scheduling, and except overtime shall be paid after eight (8) hours per day and thirty-five (35) hours per week.
- Article 5 <u>Overtime</u> Not applicable, except overtime shall be paid after eight (8) hours per day and thirty-five (35) hours per week.
- Article 6 Leave Not applicable except vacation entitlement paid as per the part-time employees.

Public Holidays, as defined in the *Employment Standards Act, 2000*, are to be paid in accordance with the provisions of the Act where a casual employee is called and elects to work on such a day.

- *Article 7 <u>Workplace Safety & Insurance Act</u> Not applicable except for 7.1 and 7.2.
- Article 8 <u>Pension</u> Applicable provided OMERS requirements are met
- Article 9 <u>Probation</u> Not applicable
- Article 10 <u>Seniority</u> Not applicable except for 10.1 (b)

Article 11 <u>Promotions and Transfers</u> The Employer will consider the applications from Casual employees prior to considering external candidates for posted vacancies. Casual employees will only be considered should there be no successful regular candidates to the competition.

Article 12 Layoff and Recall

Not applicable

- Article 17 <u>Benefits</u> Not applicable
- Article 20 Salaries Applicable except for 20.3 a) and b)
- Article 22 Job Security Not applicable
- Article 24 Organizational or Technological Changes Not applicable
- Article 25 <u>General</u> Not applicable except for 25.1 (Automobile Allowance), 25.3 (Number or Gender), 25.4 (Legal Protection) and 25.7 (Bulletin Boards).
- Article 26 Categories of employees Applicable
- Article 27 <u>Severance Procedure</u> Applicable
- Article 28 Collective Agreement Variations Specific to Casual Employees Applicable
- Article 29 <u>Duration of Agreement</u> Applicable
- Article 30 Provisions for Librarians Applicable
- Appendix A <u>Seniority Dovetailing Calculations</u> Not applicable
- Appendix B <u>Average Working Day Formula</u> Not applicable
- Appendix C <u>Classification and Salary Scales</u> Applicable
- Appendix E Salary Scales Applicable

FROM JANUARY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2024

Appendix F <u>Temporary Vacancies</u> Applicable

ARTICLE 29 - DURATION OF AGREEMENT

*29.1 Duration of Agreement

This agreement shall remain in force and effect from January 1, 2020 to December 31, 2024. Except where a provision provides otherwise, amended or changed provisions shall become effective on the date of ratification by the Employer. It is understood that the Employer will deal with ratification within two (2) weeks of being notified by the Union that the employees have ratified the agreement.

- 29.2 Should either party to the agreement wish to seek amendments to or modifications of the agreement or to terminate the agreement and negotiate a new agreement, it shall give written notice to the other party not later than ninety (90) days prior to the expiry of the collective agreement.
- 29.3 Within thirty (30) days of the receipt of this notice, the parties shall meet for the purpose of considering the proposed amendments or terms of a new agreement.

FROM JANUARY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2024

*ARTICLE 30 - PROVISIONS FOR LIBRARIANS

A Joint Professional Development Committee shall be constituted to develop a professional development program for professional staff that hold a substantive position of Librarian, Supervising Librarian or Coordinator.

In addition to professional staff who hold a substantive position of Librarian, Supervising Librarian or Coordinator, participation in the JPDC and the JPDC developmental opportunities will also be offered to staff whose substantive position is not a Librarian, Supervising Librarian or Coordinator, providing the individual provides proof of holding a Masters in Library Science (MLS) from an ALA accredited library school and is a member of the CUPE 503 Library Group bargaining unit.

(a) Committee Composition

The committee shall be composed of two (2) employee representatives to be designated by professional staff and one (1) management representative to be designated by the Library Senior Management Team (LSMT). The Employer will contribute a maximum of four (4) half days' pay per year for each representative for the purpose of committee meetings. The meeting schedule will be published ahead of time to allow proper coverage of operational requirements.

(b) Purpose

In keeping with OPL priorities, the purpose of such committee is to enhance the specialized knowledge of professional staff and keep them abreast of new developments in library service delivery by initiating, developing and/or promoting professional development opportunities, including reimbursement of related fees.

The committee shall develop their terms of reference for approval by CEO or designate.

(c) Funding

An annual fund of twenty thousand dollars (\$20,000) shall be allocated to this committee for the purposes described above. This funding shall be in addition to the regular budget for:

- Conferences and conventions, and
- Staff training and development.

The management representative, with the consensus of the employee representatives on the committee, shall recommend the allocation of these funds to the CEO or designate for approval. The recommendations shall include the rationale for developmental options proposed. CEO or designate shall communicate its decision to the committee in a timely fashion along with their rationale for any options that are not supported.

The committee funds shall not be used to cover salaries. More specifically, it is understood that these funds shall not be used for the back filling of employees attending developmental opportunities or to cover salaries of employees attending such developmental opportunities on their day(s) of rest.

Unused funds may not be carried over into the subsequent annual budget.

The committee will issue a report on the use of funds by December 31st of each year.

(d) Schedule Changes

The Employer will make reasonable efforts to amend employees' schedules by moving their scheduled day(s) of rest in order to maximize employees' opportunities to attend JPDC events. Employees must submit their request to have their schedules changed for this purpose at least thirty (30) calendar days in advance of the applicable JPDC event(s)

FROM JANUARY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2024

November 17, 2022. Signed in Ottawa, Ontario on

FOR THE EMPLOYER

Per: Matthew Luloff (Chair, OPLB)

Per: Danielle McDonald (Chief Executive Officer)

Per: Anna Basile (Division Manager, Corporate Services)

Per: Sheldon Marcellus (Program Manager, Labour Relations)

Per: Christine Lee (Senior Labour Relations Consultant)

FOR THE UNION

Per James Watson (President)

Per: Allison Reilly (National Representative)

Per: Wil Kelly (Vice President)

Per: Joan Keith (Recording Secretary)

FROM JANUARY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2024

APPENDIX A - SENIORITY DOVETAILING CALCULATION

Day 1 Seniority List (compiled as of January 1, 2001)

A seniority list will be established for all full time and part time employees as of January 1, 2001, using the following calculation:

Full Time Employees

- Length of service x 1825 = points for seniority ranking
- Date of hire with the predecessor employer will be used to determine the length of service for full-time employees
- Date of hire with the predecessor employer will be used to determine the length of service for full-time non-unionized employees who will move into the scope of this bargaining unit.

Part Time Employees

- Length of service x 1095 = points for seniority ranking
- Date of hire with the predecessor employer will be used to determine the length of service

The Cognos Cube is the reference tool that contains information for all merging municipalities and shall be used as the information source for seniority dates and hire dates as applicable.

2001 ACCRUAL

Once the list, as of January 1, 2001 has been established, full time and part time employees will accrue seniority as follows:

Full-time employees will accrue seniority based upon the accrual of five points per day (1825 points in a calendar year).

Part-time employees will accrue seniority based upon the accrual of five points per seven hours worked (1825 points in a calendar year).

COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE OTTAWA PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD AND CUPE 503

FROM JANUARY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2024

APPENDIX B - AVERAGE WORKING DAY FORMULA

Calculated twice (2x) per calendar year, based on total earnings during a six (6) month period (i.e. January to June and July to December)

TOTAL EARNINGS =

Total hours worked/paid + vacation (paid or unpaid) + public holidays + LTDI + WSIB + IPP + Special Leave + Bereavement Leave + Parental Leave + Educational or Professional Training Leave (paid) + any other paid leave

Note: the formula is cumulative for one (1) calendar year

MATHEMATICAL FORMULA

- 1. Weekly Average = total earnings during a six (6) month period / 26 weeks
- 2. Daily Average = weekly average / five (5) days
- 3. *Benefit* = daily average x benefit entitlement

Example : Calculation of Annual Leave Benefit

Employee Information

Employee Status:	Support Staff
Length of Service:	six (6) years
Hours Worked July 1 to December 31, 1998:	780.00
Vacation Entitlement:	2 weeks over a six (6) month period

Annual Leave Benefit

Weekly Average.	780.00 hours / 26 weeks = 30 hours / week
Daily Average:	30 hours / 5 days = 6 hours / day
Benefit.	6 hours / day x 10 days = 60 hours of annual leave available

The Parties agree that the Average Working Day formula shall apply to employees who work less than thirty-five (35) hours per week. The application of the formula shall apply to Articles:

- 6.1.1 Vacation Entitlement Full-Time Employees
- 6.1.2 Vacation Entitlement Part-Time Employees
- 6.2.1(a) Income Protection Plan
- 6.4.1 Special Leave
- 6.5 Bereavement Leave
- 6.6 Pregnancy and Parental/Adoption Leave
- 6.10 <u>Public Holidays</u> (for Part-Time employees who are not scheduled to work on the day the Public Holiday falls).
- 17.2 (b) Benefits Eligibility

COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE OTTAWA PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD AND CUPE 503

FROM JANUARY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2024

APPENDIX C - CLASSIFICATION AND SALARY SCALES

JOB EVALUATION / PAY EQUITY PROCESS

The parties created a Joint Job Evaluation/Pay Equity Committee comprised of three (3) representatives each excluding their advisor(s), which reviewed the implementation of the Job Evaluation Plan used by the former Region of Ottawa-Carleton outlined in the Memorandum of Implementation, the Memorandum on the Manual of Maintenance Procedures and the Memorandum of Understanding Re: Job Evaluation to govern all matters referred to therein. The Committee reviewed the above documentation and edited the documents to represent the Library.

With the agreement of the parties, the Joint Job Evaluation/Pay Equity Committee reviewed the benchmark positions established by the Library and the placement in the new pay grades and associated salary structure developed by the library. The established classifications were increased to reflect additional positions which may have been omitted or modified upon review by the Committee.

Leave with pay was granted to Committee members for scheduled committee meetings.

All positions falling within this Collective Agreement were matched to the benchmark positions and associated salary schedule (Appendix D and Appendix E). Placement in the pay grade was at the rate closest to but not less than the employees' then present rate.

Go Forward Process

Any new position or reclassification of existing positions shall be subject to the process outlined in the Job Evaluation / Pay Equity Manual of Maintenance Procedures and the provisions of Clauses 20.6 and 25.5.

*APPENDIX D - LIST OF CLASSIFICATIONS

Job Key	Job Title	Pay Grade
10112203	Materials Sorter	4
10004841	Page	4
10056814	Collection Access Clerk	6
10004843	Driver	6
10056813	Acquisitions Clerk	7
10056837	Library Support Clerk	7
10056815	Shipper/Receiver	7
10056514	Collection Development Assistant	8
10101077	Customer Service Assistant	8
10004848	Interlibrary Loans Assistant	8
10004846	Mobile Services Assistant	8
10112204	Materials Delivery Assistant	9
10056816	Acquisitions Assistant	10
10056817	Cataloguing Assistant	10
10056511	Children's Program & Public Service Assistant	10
10080126	COOP Student, Librarian	10
10004850	Public Service Assistant	10
10004853	Communications Assistant	11
10004859	Customer Accounts Officer	11
10056811	OPL System Specialist	11
10056818	Cataloguer	13
10056823	Library Web Developer/Integrator	13
10004854	Public Service Supervisor	13
10004855	Graphic Designer	14
10091140	Project Officer, Facilities Planning & Development	14
10056819	Supervisor, Cataloguing	14
10056824	Supervisor, Materials Delivery	14
10056821	Acquisitions Supervisor	15
10004860	Librarian	15
10082307	Public Information Officer	15
10074426	Staff Training & Development Officer	15
10056509	Supervising Librarian	16
10004861	Coordinator	18

*APPENDIX E

SALARY SCALES
LIBRARY PAY SCHEDULE
Effective: January 1, 2020
1.80% Increase
35 hrs/wk

			1	1	· · · · · ·	
		1	2	3	4	5
1	Annual	\$ 29,287.44	\$ 30,444.96	\$ 31,678.92	\$ 32,945.64	\$ 34,250.58
1	Bi-weekly	\$ 1,126.44	\$ 1,170.96	\$ 1,218.42	\$ 1,267.14	\$ 1,317.33
	Hourly	\$ 16.092	\$ 16.728	\$ 17.406	\$ 18.102	\$ 18.819
- 1	_		1	1		
2	Annual	\$ 31,289.44	\$ 32,532.50	\$ 33,853.82	\$ 35,211.54	\$ 36,598.38
	Bi-weekly	\$ 1,203.44	\$ 1,251.25	\$ 1,302.07	\$ 1,354.29	\$ 1,407.63
1	Hourly	\$ 17.192	\$ 17.875	\$ 18.601	\$ 19.347	\$ 20.109
1	Annual	\$ 33,302.36	\$ 34,625.50	\$ 36,032.36	\$ 37,470.16	\$ 38,949.82
	Bi-weekly	\$ 1,280.86	\$ 1,331.75	\$ 1,385.86	\$ 1,441.16	\$ 1,498.07
	Hourly	\$ 18.298	\$ 19.025	\$ 19.798	\$ 20.588	\$ 21.401
T	Annual	\$ 41,122.90	\$ 42,751.80	\$ 44,475.34	\$ 46,271.68	\$ 48,102.60
4	Bi-weekly	\$ 1,581.65	\$ 1,644.30	\$ 1,710.59	\$ 1,779.68	\$ 1,850.10
	Hourly	\$ 22.595	\$ 23.490	\$ 24.437	\$ 25.424	\$ 26.430
1	Annual	\$ 43,456.14	\$ 45,183.32	\$ 47,012.42	\$ 48,910.68	\$ 50,848.98
1	Bi-weekly	\$ 1,671.39	\$ 1,737.82	\$ 1,808.17	\$ 1,881.18	\$ 1,955.73
1	Hourly	\$ 23.877	\$ 24.826	\$ 25.831	\$ 26.874	\$ 27.939
Т	Annual	\$ 45,805.76	\$ 47,634.86	\$ 49,538.58	\$ 51,542.40	\$ 53,584,44
5	Bi-weekly	\$ 1,761.76	\$ 1,832.11	\$ 1,905.33	\$ 1,982.40	\$ 2,060.94
	Hourly	\$ 25.168	\$ 26.173	\$ 27.219	\$ 28.320	\$ 29.442
1			Transfer or T			
7	Annual	\$ 48,144.46	\$ 50,070.02	\$ 52,077.48	\$ 54,185.04	\$ 56,332.64
-	Bi-weekly	\$ 1,851.71	\$ 1,925.77	\$ 2,002.98	\$ 2,084.04	\$ 2,166.64
_	Hourly	\$ 26.453	\$ 27.511	\$ 28.614	\$ 29.772	\$ 30.952
	Annual	\$ 50,484.98	\$ 52,501.54	\$ 54,612.74	\$ 56,822.22	\$ 59,069.92
-	Bi-weekly	\$ 1,941.73	\$ 2,019.29	\$ 2,100.49	\$ 2,185.47	\$ 2,271.92
	Hourly	\$ 27.739	\$ 28.847	\$ 30.007	\$ 31.221	\$ 32.456

9	Annual	\$ 52,827.32	\$ 54,934.88	\$ 57,148.00	\$ 59,455.76	\$ 61,809.02]
111	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,031.82	\$ 2,112.88	\$ 2,198.00	\$ 2,286.76	\$ 2,377.27	1
	Hourly	\$ 29.026	\$ 30.184	\$ 31.400	\$ 32.668	\$ 33.961	1
10	Annual	\$ 55,173.30	\$ 57,375.50	\$ 59,679.62	\$ 62,098.40	\$ 64,551.76	1
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,122.05	\$ 2,206.75	\$ 2,295.37	\$ 2,388.40	\$ 2,482.76	1
	Hourly	\$ 30.315	\$ 31.525	\$ 32.791	\$ 34.120	\$ 35.468]
11	Annual	\$ 57,513.82	\$ 59,810.66	\$ 62,213.06	\$ 64,728.30	\$ 67,301.78	1
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,212.07	\$ 2,300.41	\$ 2,392.81	\$ 2,489.55	\$ 2,588.53	
	Hourly	\$ 31.601	\$ 32.863	\$ 34.183	\$ 35.565	\$ 36.979	1
12	Annual	\$ 59,863.44	\$ 62,249.46	\$ 64,746.50	\$ 67,372.76	\$ 70,035.42	1
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,302.44	\$ 2,394.21	\$ 2,490.25	\$ 2,591.26	\$ 2,693.67	1
	Hourly	\$ 32.892	\$ 34.203	\$ 35.575	\$ 37.018	\$ 38.481]
13	Annual	\$ 62,202.14	\$ 64,682.80	\$ 67,289.04	\$ 70,009.94	\$ 72,779.98	1.
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,392.39	\$ 2,487.80	\$ 2,588.04	\$ 2,692.69	\$ 2,799.23	
	Hourly	\$ 34.177	\$ 35.540	\$ 36.972	\$ 38.467	\$ 39.989	1
14	Annual	\$ 64,540.84	\$ 67,117.96	\$ 69,817.02	\$ 72,639.84	\$ 75,517.26	1
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,482.34	\$ 2,581.46	\$ 2,685.27	\$ 2,793.84	\$ 2,904.51	
	Hourly	\$ 35.462	\$ 36.878	\$ 38.361	\$ 39.912	\$ 41.493	1
15	Annual	\$ 66,892.28	\$ 69,560.40	\$ 72,346.82	\$ 75,278.84	\$ 78,261.82	\$ 79,830.66
_	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,572.78	\$ 2,675.40	\$ 2,782.57	\$ 2,895.34	\$ 3,010.07	\$ 3,070.41
	Hourly	\$ 36.754	\$ 38.220	\$ 39.751	\$ 41.362	\$ 43.001	\$ 43.863
16	Annual	\$ 69,229.16	\$ 71,991.92	\$ 74,880.26	\$ 77,917.84	\$ 81,000.92	\$ 82,620.72
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,662.66	\$ 2,768.92	\$ 2,880.01	\$ 2,996.84	\$ 3,115.42	\$ 3,177.72
	Hourly	\$ 38.038	\$ 39.556	\$ 41.143	\$ 42.812	\$ 44.506	\$ 45.396
17	Annual	\$ 71,573.32	\$ 74,430.72	\$ 77,420.98	\$ 80,556.84	\$ 83,741.84	\$ 85,418.06
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,752.82	\$ 2,862.72	\$ 2,977.73	\$ 3,098.34	\$ 3,220.84	\$ 3,285.31
	Hourly	\$ 39.326	\$ 40.896	\$ 42.539	\$ 44.262	\$ 46.012	\$ 46.933
18	Annual	\$ 73,921.12	\$ 76,864.06	\$ 79,961.70	\$ 83,183.10	\$ 86,491.86	\$ 88,224.50
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,843.12	\$ 2,956.31	\$ 3,075.45	\$ 3,199.35	\$ 3,326.61	\$ 3,393.25
	Hourly	\$ 40.616	\$ 42.233	\$ 43.935	\$ 45.705	\$ 47.523	\$ 48.475

			SALARY S LIBRARY PAY Effective: Jan 1.50% In 35 hrs	SCHEDULE uary 1, 2021 crease			
		1	2	3	4	5	- 1
1	Annual	\$ 29,726.06	\$ 30,901.78	\$ 32,153.94	\$ 33,440.68	\$ 34,763.82	
-	Bi-weekly	\$ 1,143.31	\$ 1,188.53	\$ 1,236.69	\$ 1,286.18	\$ 1,337.07	
	Hourly	\$ 16.333	\$ 16.979	\$ 17.667	\$ 18.374	\$ 19.101	
2	Annual	\$ 31,759.00	\$ 33,020.26	\$ 34,361.60	\$ 35,739.34	\$ 37,148.02	
	Bi-weekly	\$ 1,221.50	\$ 1,270.01	\$ 1,321.60	\$ 1,374.59	\$ 1,428.77	
	Hourly	\$ 17.450	\$ 18.143	\$ 18.880	\$ 19.637	\$ 20.411	
3	Annual	\$ 33,801.04	\$ 35,144.20	\$ 36,572.90	\$ 38,032.54	\$ 39,534.04	
	Bi-weekly	\$ 1,300.04	\$ 1,351.70	\$ 1,406.65	\$ 1,462.79	\$ 1,520.54	
1	Hourly	\$ 18.572	\$ 19.310	\$ 20.095	\$ 20.897	\$ 21.722	
4	Annual	\$ 41,739.88	\$ 43,392.44	\$ 45,143.28	\$ 46,965.10	\$ 48,823.32	
	Bi-weekly	\$ 1,605.38	\$ 1,668.94	\$ 1,736.28	\$ 1,806.35	\$ 1,877.82	
	Hourly	\$ 22.934	\$ 23.842	\$ 24.804	\$ 25.805	\$ 26.826	
5	Annual	\$ 44,107.70	\$ 45,860.36	\$ 47,716.76	\$ 49,644.14	\$ 51,611.56	
	Bi-weekly	\$ 1,696.45	\$ 1,763.86	\$ 1,835.26	\$ 1,909.39	\$ 1,985.06	
	Hourly	\$ 24.235	\$ 25.198	\$ 26.218	\$ 27.277	\$ 28.358	
6	Annual	\$ 46,493.72	\$ 48,350.12	\$ 50,281.14	\$ 52,315.90	\$ 54,388.88	
	Bi-weekly	\$ 1,788.22	\$ 1,859.62	\$ 1,933.89	\$ 2,012.15	\$ 2,091.88	
	Hourly	\$ 25.546	\$ 26.566	\$ 27.627	\$ 28.745	\$ 29.884	
7	Annual	\$ 48,867.00	\$ 50,821.68	\$ 52,858.26	\$ 54,998.58	\$ 57,177.12	
	Bi-weekly	\$ 1,879.50	\$ 1,954.68	\$ 2,033.01	\$ 2,115.33	\$ 2,199.12	
	Hourly	\$ 26.850	\$ 27.924	\$ 29.043	\$ 30.219	\$ 31.416	
8	Annual	\$ 51,242.10	\$ 53,289.60	\$ 55,431.74	\$ 57,673.98	\$ 59,956.26	
	Bi-weekly	\$ 1,970.85	\$ 2,049.60	\$ 2,131.99	\$ 2,218.23	\$ 2,306.01	
	Hourly	\$ 28.155	\$ 29.280	\$ 30.457	\$ 31.689	\$ 32.943	

9	Annual	\$ 53,619.02	\$ 55,759.34	\$ 58,005.22	\$ 60,347.56	\$ 62,735.40		
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,062.27	\$ 2,144.59	\$ 2,230.97	\$ 2,321.06	\$ 2,412.90		
	Hourly	\$ 29.461	\$ 30.637	\$ 31.871	\$ 33.158	\$ 34.470		
10	Annual	\$ 56,001.40	\$ 58,236.36	\$ 60,575.06	\$ 63,030.24	\$ 65,520.00	1	
11	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,153.90	\$ 2,239.86	\$ 2,329.81	\$ 2,424.24	\$ 2,520.00	1	
	Hourly	\$ 30.770	\$ 31.998	\$ 33.283	\$ 34.632	\$ 36.000]	
11	Annual	\$ 58,376.50	\$ 60,707.92	\$ 63,146.72	\$ 65,698.36	\$ 68,311.88]	
6	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,245.25	\$ 2,334.92	\$ 2,428.72	\$ 2,526.86	\$ 2,627.38		
	Hourly	\$ 32.075	\$ 33.356	\$ 34.696	\$ 36.098	\$ 37.534]	
12	Annual	\$ 60,760.70	\$ 63,183.12	\$ 65,718.38	\$ 68,382.86	\$ 71,085.56	1	
÷.,	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,336.95	\$ 2,430.12	\$ 2,527.63	\$ 2,630.11	\$ 2,734.06		
	Hourly	\$ 33.385	\$ 34.716	\$ 36.109	\$ 37.573	\$ 39.058		
13	Annual	\$ 63,135.80	\$ 65,652.86	\$ 68,299.14	\$ 71,060.08	\$ 73,871.98	1	
1	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,428.30	\$ 2,525.11	\$ 2,626.89	\$ 2,733.08	\$ 2,841.23		
	Hourly	\$ 34.690	\$ 36.073	\$ 37.527	\$ 39.044	\$ 40.589]	
14	Annual	\$ 65,509.08	\$ 68,124.42	\$ 70,863.52	\$ 73,730.02	\$ 76,649.30	1	
- 1	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,519.58	\$ 2,620.17	\$ 2,725.52	\$ 2,835.77	\$ 2,948.05]	
	Hourly	\$ 35.994	\$ 37.431	\$ 38.936	\$ 40.511	\$ 42.115		
15	Annual	\$ 67,895.10	\$ 70,603.26	\$ 73,431.54	\$ 76,407.24	\$ 79,435.72	\$	81,028.22
1	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,611.35	\$ 2,715.51	\$ 2,824.29	\$ 2,938.74	\$ 3,055.22	\$	3,116.47
_	Hourly	\$ 37.305	\$ 38.793	\$ 40.347	\$ 41.982	\$ 43.646	\$	44.521
16	Annual	\$ 70,268.38	\$ 73,071.18	\$ 76,003.20	\$ 79,086.28	\$ 82,216.68	\$	83,860.14
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,702.63	\$ 2,810.43	\$ 2,923.20	\$ 3,041.78	\$ 3,162.18	\$	3,225.39
	Hourly	\$ 38.609	\$ 40.149	\$ 41.760	\$ 43.454	\$ 45.174	\$	46.077
17	Annual	\$ 72,647.12	\$ 75,546.38	\$ 78,582.14	\$ 81,765.32	\$ 84,997.64	\$	86,699.34
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,794.12	\$ 2,905.63	\$ 3,022.39	\$ 3,144.82	\$ 3,269.14	\$	3,334.59
	Hourly	\$ 39.916	\$ 41.509	\$ 43.177	\$ 44.926	\$ 46.702	\$	47.637
18	Annual	\$ 75,029.50	\$ 78,016.12	\$ 81,161.08	\$ 84,431.62	\$ 87,789.52	\$	89,547.64
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,885.75	\$ 3,000.62	\$ 3,121.58	\$ 3,247.37	\$ 3,376.52	\$	3,444.14
	Hourly	\$ 41.225	\$ 42.866	\$ 44.594	\$ 46.391	\$ 48.236	\$	49.202

SALARY SCALES
LIBRARY PAY SCHEDULE
Effective: January 1, 2022
1.75% Increase
35 hrs/wk

	1	2	3	4	5	6
1 Annual	\$ 30,246.58	\$ 31,442.32	\$ 32,716.32	\$ 34,026.72	\$ 35,371.70	
Bi-week		\$ 1,209.32	\$ 1,258.32	\$ 1,308.72	\$ 1,360.45	
Hourly	\$ 16.619	\$ 17.276	\$ 17.976	\$ 18.696	\$ 19.435	
2 Annual	\$ 32,314.10	\$ 33,599.02	\$ 34,962.20	\$ 36,365.42	\$ 37,797.76	
Bi-weekl	\$ 1,242.85	\$ 1,292.27	\$ 1,344.70	\$ 1,398.67	\$ 1,453.76	
Hourly	\$ 17.755	\$ 18.461	\$ 19.210	\$ 19.981	\$ 20.768	
0	C 24 200 FA	C 05 750 00	¢ 07.040.54	¢ 20 000 00	C 40.005.04	
3 Annual Riwookh	\$ 34,392.54 \$ 1,322.79	\$ 35,759.36 \$ 1,375.36	\$ 37,213.54 \$ 1,431.29	\$ 38,698.66 \$ 1,488.41	\$ 40,225.64	
Bi-weekt Hourly	\$ 18.897	\$ 19.648	\$ 20.447	\$ 1,488.41 \$ 21.263	\$ 1,547.14 \$ 22.102	
riouny	\$ 10.087	\$ 15.040	\$ 20,447	φ 21.203	φ 22.102	
4 Annual	\$ 42,469.70	\$ 44,151.38	\$ 45,933.16	\$ 47,787.74	\$ 49,676.90	
Bi-weekl	\$ 1,633.45	\$ 1,698.13	\$ 1,766.66	\$ 1,837.99	\$ 1,910.65	
Hourly	\$ 23.335	\$ 24.259	\$ 25.238	\$ 26.257	\$ 27.295	
5 Annual	\$ 44,879.38	\$ 46,662.98	\$ 48,552.14	\$ 50,512.28	\$ 52,514.28	
Bi-weekl		\$ 1,794.73	\$ 1,867.39	\$ 1,942.78	\$ 2,019.78	
Hourly	\$ 24.659	\$ 25.639	\$ 26.677	\$ 27.754	\$ 28.854	
6 Annual	\$ 47,307.26	\$ 49,196.42	\$ 51,160.20	\$ 53,231.36	\$ 55,340.74	
Bi-weekl	\$ 1,819.51	\$ 1,892.17	\$ 1,967.70	\$ 2,047.36	\$ 2,128.49	
Hourly	\$ 25.993	\$ 27.031	\$ 28.110	\$ 29.248	\$ 30.407	
7 Annual	\$ 49,722.40	\$ 51,711.66	\$ 53,782.82	\$ 55,961.36	\$ 58,178.12	
Bi-weekl		\$ 1,988.91	\$ 2,068.57	\$ 2,152.36	1. 1. 1. 1. 1. A. A. A. A.	
					\$ 2,237.62 \$ 31.966	
Hourly	\$ 27.320	\$ 28.413	\$ 29.551	\$ 30.748	\$ 31.966	
B Annual	\$ 52,139.36	\$ 54,221.44	\$ 56,401.80	\$ 58,684.08	\$ 61,006.40	
Bi-weekl	\$ 2,005.36	\$ 2,085.44	\$ 2,169.30	\$ 2,257.08	\$ 2,346.40	
Hourly	\$ 28,648	\$ 29.792	\$ 30.990	\$ 32.244	\$ 33.520	

9	Annual	\$ 54,558.14	\$	56,734.86	\$ 59,020.78	\$	61,403.16	\$ 63,832.86		
-	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,098.39	\$	2,182.11	\$ 2,270.03	\$	2,361.66	\$ 2,455.11		
	Hourly	\$ 29.977	\$	31.173	\$ 32.429	\$	33.738	\$ 35.073		
10	Annual	\$ 56,980.56	\$	59,255.56	\$ 61,634.30	\$	64,133.16	\$ 66,666.60	1	
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,191.56	\$	2,279.06	\$ 2,370.55	S	2,466.66	\$ 2,564.10	1	
	Hourly	\$ 31.308	\$	32.558	\$ 33.865	\$	35.238	\$ 36.630]	
11	Annual	\$ 59,397.52	\$	61,770.80	\$ 64,251.46	\$	66,848.60	\$ 69,507.62	1	
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,284.52	\$	2,375.80	\$ 2,471.21	\$	2,571.10	\$ 2,673.37	1	
	Hourly	\$ 32.636	\$	33.940	\$ 35.303	\$	36.730	\$ 38.191	1	
12	Annual	\$ 61,823.58	\$	64,289.68	\$ 66,868.62	\$	69,580.42	\$ 72,330.44	1	
1	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,377.83	\$	2,472.68	\$ 2,571.87	\$	2,676.17	\$ 2,781.94	1	
	Hourly	\$ 33.969	\$	35.324	\$ 36.741	\$	38.231	\$ 39.742		
13	Annual	\$ 64,240.54	\$	66,801.28	\$ 69,494.88	\$	72,303.14	\$ 75,164.18	1	
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,470.79	s	2,569.28	\$ 2,672.88	\$	2,780.89	\$ 2,890.93		
	Hourly	\$ 35.297	\$	36.704	\$ 38.184	\$	39.727	\$ 41.299]	
14	Annual	\$ 66,655.68	\$	69,316.52	\$ 72,102.94	\$	75,020.40	\$ 77,990.64	1	
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,563.68	\$	2,666.02	\$ 2,773.19	\$	2,885.40	\$ 2,999.64	1	
	Hourly	\$ 36.624	\$	38.086	\$ 39.617	\$	41.220	\$ 42.852]	
15	Annual	\$ 69,083.56	\$	71,839.04	\$ 74,716.46	\$	77,744.94	\$ 80,826.20	\$	82,446.00
1	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,657.06	\$	2,763.04	\$ 2,873.71	\$	2,990.19	\$ 3,108.70	\$	3,171.00
	Hourly	\$ 37.958	\$	39.472	\$ 41.053	\$	42.717	\$ 44.410	\$	45.300
16	Annual	\$ 71,498.70	\$	74,350.64	\$ 77,333.62	\$	80,469.48	\$ 83,656.30	\$	85,327.06
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,749.95	\$	2,859.64	\$ 2,974.37	\$	3,094.98	\$ 3,217.55	\$	3,281.81
_	Hourly	\$ 39.285	\$	40.852	\$ 42.491	\$	44.214	\$ 45.965	\$	46.883
17	Annual	\$ 73,919.30	\$	76,867.70	\$ and a second second	\$		\$ 86,484.58	\$	88,217.22
_	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,843.05	\$	2,956.45	\$ 3,075.31	\$	3,199.84	\$ 3,326.33	\$	3,392.97
	Hourly	\$ 40.615	\$	42.235	\$ 43.933	\$	45.712	\$ 47.519	\$	48.471
18	Annual	\$ 76,341.72	\$	79,381.12	\$ 82,580.68	\$	85,909.46	\$ 89,325.60	\$	91,114.66
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,936.22	\$	3,053.12	\$ 3,176.18	\$	3,304.21	\$ 3,435.60	\$	3,504.41
-	Hourly	\$ 41.946	\$	43.616	\$ 45.374	\$	47.203	\$ 49.080	\$	50.063

SALARY SCALES	
LIBRARY PAY SCHEDULE	
Effective: January 1, 2023	
1.80% Increase	
35 hrs/wk	

1

2

_	1	2	3	4	5	6
Annual	\$ 30,790.76	\$ 32,008.34	\$ 33,306.00	\$ 34,640.06	\$ 36,008.70	
Bi-weekly	\$ 1,184.26	\$ 1,231.09	\$ 1,281.00	\$ 1,332.31	\$ 1,384.95	
Hourly	\$ 16.918	\$ 17.587	\$ 18.300	\$ 19.033	\$ 19.785	
Annual	\$ 32,896.50	\$ 34,203.26	\$ 35,591,92	\$ 37,020.62	\$ 38,478.44	
Bi-weekly	\$ 1,265.25	\$ 1,315.51	\$ 1,368.92	\$ 1,423.87	\$ 1,479.94	
Hourly	\$ 18.075	\$ 18.793	\$ 19.556	\$ 20.341	\$ 21.142	
					F	
Annual	\$ 35,011.34	\$ 36,403.64	\$ 37,883.30	\$ 39,395.72	\$ 40,950.00	
		The Allerthead and				

3	Annual	\$ 35,011.34	\$ 36,403.64	\$ 37,883.30	\$ 39,395.72	\$ 40,950.00
11	Bi-weekly	\$ 1,346.59	\$ 1,400.14	\$ 1,457.05	\$ 1,515.22	\$ 1,575.00
- 1	Hourly	\$ 19.237	\$ 20.002	\$ 20.815	\$ 21.646	\$ 22.500

4	Annual	\$ 43,234.10	\$ 44,946.72	\$ 46,759.44	\$ 48,648.60	\$ 50,570.52
1	Bi-weekly	\$ 1,662.85	\$ 1,728.72	\$ 1,798.44	\$ 1,871.10	\$ 1,945.02
	Hourly	\$ 23.755	\$ 24.696	\$ 25.692	\$ 26.730	\$ 27.786

5	Annual	\$ 45,687.46	\$ 47,503.82	\$ 49,425.74	\$ 51,422.28	\$ 53,458.86
7.5	Bi-weekly	\$ 1,757.21	\$ 1,827.07	\$ 1,900.99	\$ 1,977.78	\$ 2,056.11
	Hourly	\$ 25.103	\$ 26.101	\$ 27.157	\$ 28.254	\$ 29.373

6	Annual	\$ 48,159.02	\$ 50,082.76	\$ 52,081.12	\$ 54,188.68	\$ 56,336.28
	Bi-weekly	\$ 1,852.27	\$ 1,926.26	\$ 2,003.12	\$ 2,084.18	\$ 2,166.78
- 1	Hourly	\$ 26.461	\$ 27.518	\$ 28.616	\$ 29.774	\$ 30.954

7	Annual	\$ 50,617.84	\$ 52,641.68	\$ 54,751.06	\$ 56,967.82	\$ 59,224.62
	Bi-weekly	\$ 1,946.84	\$ 2,024.68	\$ 2,105.81	\$ 2,191.07	\$ 2,277.87
-	Hourly	\$ 27.812	\$ 28.924	\$ 30.083	\$ 31.301	\$ 32.541

8	Annual	\$ 53,078.48	\$ 55,196.96	\$ 57,417.36	\$ 59,739.68	\$ 62,103.86
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,041.48	\$ 2,122.96	\$ 2,208.36	\$ 2,297.68	\$ 2,388.61
	Hourly	\$ 29.164	\$ 30.328	\$ 31.548	\$ 32.824	\$ 34.123

9	Annual	\$ 55,540.94	\$ 57,755.88	\$ 60,083.66	\$ 62,507.90	\$ 64,981.28		
172	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,136.19	\$ 2,221.38	\$ 2,310.91	\$ 2,404.15	\$ 2,499.28		
	Hourly	\$ 30.517	\$ 31.734	\$ 33.013	\$ 34.345	\$ 35.704]	
10	Annual	\$ 58,007.04	\$ 60,322.08	\$ 62,744.50	\$ 65,287.04	\$ 67,865.98	1	
r f	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,231.04	\$ 2,320.08	\$ 2,413.25	\$ 2,511.04	\$ 2,610.23		
	Hourly	\$ 31.872	\$ 33.144	\$ 34.475	\$ 35.872	\$ 37.289		
11	Annual	\$ 60,465.86	\$ 62,882.82	\$ 65,407.16	\$ 68,051.62	\$ 70,757.96	1	
_	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,325.61	\$ 2,418.57	\$ 2,515.66	\$ 2,617.37	\$ 2,721.46		
	Hourly	\$ 33.223	\$ 34.551	\$ 35.938	\$ 37.391	\$ 38.878		
12	Annual	\$ 62,935.60	\$ 65,447.20	\$ 68,071.64	\$ 70,832.58	\$ 73,631.74	1	
24	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,420.60	\$ 2,517.20	\$ 2,618.14	\$ 2,724.33	\$ 2,831.99		
	Hourly	\$ 34.580	\$ 35.960	\$ 37.402	\$ 38.919	\$ 40.457		
13	Annual	\$ 65,396.24	\$ 68,004.30	\$ 70,745.22	\$ 73,604.44	\$ 76,516.44	1	
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,515.24	\$ 2,615.55	\$ 2,720.97	\$ 2,830.94	\$ 2,942.94	1	
	Hourly	\$ 35.932	\$ 37.365	\$ 38.871	\$ 40.442	\$ 42.042		
14	Annual	\$ 67,855.06	\$ 70,565.04	\$ 73,400.60	\$ 76,370.84	\$ 79,393.86	Ĩ	
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,609.81	\$ 2,714.04	\$ 2,823.10	\$ 2,937.34	\$ 3,053.61		
	Hourly	\$ 37.283	\$ 38.772	\$ 40.330	\$ 41.962	\$ 43.623		
15	Annual	\$ 70,326.62	\$ 73,131.24	\$ 76,061.44	\$ 79,144.52	\$ 82,280.38	\$	83,929.30
1.7	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,704.87	\$ 2,812.74	\$ 2,925.44	\$ 3,044.02	\$ 3,164.63	\$	3,228.05
	Hourly	\$ 38.641	\$ 40.182	\$ 41.792	\$ 43.486	\$ 45.209	\$	46.115
16	Annual	\$ 72,785.44	\$ 75,688.34	\$ 78,725.92	\$ 81,918.20	\$ 85,161.44	\$	86,863.14
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,799.44	\$ 2,911.09	\$ 3,027.92	\$ 3,150.70	\$ 3,275.44	\$	3,340.89
-	Hourly	\$ 39.992	\$ 41.587	\$ 43.256	\$ 45.010	\$ 46.792	\$	47.727
17	Annual	\$ 75,249.72	\$ 78,250.90	\$ 81,397.68	\$ 84,693.70	\$ 88,040.68	\$	89,804.26
_	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,894.22	\$ 3,009.65	\$ 3,130.68	\$ 3,257.45	\$ 3,386.18	\$	3,454.01
	Hourly	\$ 41.346	\$ 42.995	\$ 44.724	\$ 46.535	\$ 48.374	\$	49.343
18	Annual	\$ 77,715.82	\$ 80,809.82	\$ 84,067.62	\$ 87,456.46	\$ 90,932.66	\$	92,754.48
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,989.07	\$ 3,108.07	\$ 3,233.37	\$ 3,363.71	\$ 3,497.41	\$	3,567.48
	Hourly	\$ 42.701	\$ 44.401	\$ 46.191	\$ 48.053	\$ 49.963	\$	50.964

SALARY SCALES	
LIBRARY PAY SCHEDULE	
Effective: January 1, 2024	
2.00% Increase	
35 hrs/wk	

	is		1		2		3	-	4		5	E
	Annual	¢	31,405.92	\$	32,648.98	c	33,972.12	æ	35,333.48	¢	36,729.42	
1	Bi-weekly	\$	1,207.92	\$	1,255.73	\$	1,306.62	9 5	1,358.98	\$	1,412.67	
-	Hourly	\$	17.256	\$	17.939	\$	18.666	\$	19.414	\$	20.181	
	, ioung		11.200	÷	11.000		10.000		Jacini		20.101	
2	Annual	\$	33,555.34	\$	34,887.58	\$	36,303.54	\$	37,761.36	\$	39,248.30	
	Bi-weekly	\$	1,290.59	\$	1,341.83	\$	1,396.29	\$	1,452.36	\$	1,509.55	
	Hourly	\$	18.437	\$	19.169	\$	19.947	\$	20.748	\$	21.565	
		-				-		-				
3	Annual	\$	35,712.04	\$	37,131.64	\$	38,640.42	\$	40,183.78	\$	41,769.00	
	Bi-weekly	\$	1,373.54	\$	1,428.14	\$	1,486.17	\$	1,545.53	\$	1,606.50	
	Hourly	\$	19.622	\$	20.402	\$	21.231	\$	22.079	\$	22.950	
				_		_	_	_				
4	Annual	\$	44,098.60	\$	45,845.80	\$	47,694.92	\$	49,622.30	\$	51,582.44	
	Bi-weekly	\$	1,696.10	\$	1,763.30	\$	1,834.42	\$	1,908.55	\$	1,983.94	
	Houriy	\$	24.230	\$	25.190	\$	26.206	\$	27.265	\$	28,342	
	_									-		
5	Annual	\$	46,601.10	\$	48,453.86	\$	50,414.00	\$	52,450.58	\$	54,527.20	
-	Bi-weekly	\$	1,792.35	\$	1,863.61	\$	1,939.00	\$	2,017.33	\$	2,097.20	
	Hourly	\$	25.605	\$	26.623	\$	27.700	\$	28.819	\$	29.960	
	Sec. Let		1		3. 1273.227	-	120 120 190 1	127		-	150000000	
6	Annual	-	49,121.80	100	51,083.76	\$	53,122.16	\$	and contract 1	1.0	57,462.86	
-	Bi-weekly	\$	1,889.30	\$	1,964.76	\$	2,043.16	\$	2,125.83	\$	2,210.11	
	Hourly	\$	26.990	\$	28.068	\$	29.188	\$	30.369	\$	31.573	
7	Annual	\$	51,629.76	\$	53,693.64	\$	55,846.70	\$	58,107.14	\$	60,409,44	
	Bi-weekly	\$	1,985.76	\$	2,065.14	\$	2,147.95	\$	2,234.89	\$	2,323.44	
	Hourly	\$	28.368	\$	29.502	\$	30.685	\$	31.927	\$	33.192	
	ilouny	Ψ	20.000	Ψ	20.002	\$	00.000	φ	01.021	φ	00,102	
8	Annual	\$	54,139.54	\$	56,301.70	\$	58,565.78	\$	60,933.60	\$	63,345.10	
	Bi-weekly	\$	2,082.29	\$	2,165.45	\$	2,252.53	\$	2,343.60	\$	2,436.35	
	Hourly	\$	29.747	\$	30.935	\$	32.179	\$	33.480	\$	34.805	

9	Annual	\$ 56,651.14	\$	58,911.58	\$ 61,284.86	\$ 63,758.24	\$	66,280.76	1	
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,178.89	\$	2,265.83	\$ 2,357.11	\$ 2,452.24	\$	2,549.26		
	Hourly	\$ 31.127	\$	32.369	\$ 33.673	\$ 35.032	\$	36.418	1	
10	Annual	\$ 59,166.38	\$	61,528.74	\$ 64,000.30	\$ 66,591.98	\$	69,223.70]	
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,275.63	\$	2,366.49	\$ 2,461.55	\$ 2,561.23	\$	2,662.45		
	Hourly	\$	\$	33.807	\$ 35.165	\$ 36.589	\$	38.035]	
11	Annual	\$ 61,674.34	\$	64,140.44	\$ 66,715.74	\$ 69,412.98	\$	72,173.92	1	
<u> </u>	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,372.09	\$	2,466.94	\$ 2,565.99	\$ 2,669.73	\$	2,775.92		
	Hourly	\$ 33.887	\$	35.242	\$ 36.657	\$ 38.139	\$	39.656]	
12	Annual	\$ 64,195.04	\$	66,755.78	\$ 69,433.00	\$ 72,248.54	\$	75,104.12	1	
-	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,469.04	\$	2,567.53	\$ 2,670.50	\$ 2,778.79	\$	2,888.62		
	Hourly	\$ 35.272	\$	36.679	\$ 38.150	\$ 39.697	\$	41.266		
13	Annual	\$ 66,704.82	s	69,363.84	\$ 72,159.36	\$ 75,076.82	\$	78,047.06	1	
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,565.57	\$	2,667.84	\$ 2,775.36	\$ 2,887.57	\$	3,001.81	1	
	Hourly	\$ 36.651	\$	38.112	\$ 39.648	\$ 41.251	\$	42.883]	
14	Annual	\$ 69,212.78	\$	71,975.54	\$ 74,869.34	\$ 77,897.82	\$	80,980.90	1	
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,662.03	\$	2,768.29	\$ 2,879.59	\$ 2,996.07	\$	3,114.65	1	
	Hourly	\$ 38.029	\$	39.547	\$ 41.137	\$ 42.801	\$	44.495]	
15	Annual	\$ 71,733.48	\$	74,594.52	\$ 77,582.96	\$ 80,727.92	\$	83,925.66	\$	85,607.34
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,758.98	\$	2,869.02	\$ 2,983.96	\$ 3,104.92	\$	3,227.91	\$	3,292.59
	Hourly	\$ 39.414	\$	40.986	\$ 42.628	\$ 44.356	\$	46.113	\$	47.037
16	Annual	\$ 74,241.44	\$	77,202.58	\$ 80,300.22	\$ 83,556.20	\$	86,864.96	\$	88,601.24
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,855.44	\$	2,969.33	\$ 3,088.47	\$ 3,213.70	\$	3,340.96	\$	3,407.74
	Hourly	\$ 40.792	\$	42.419	\$ 44.121	\$ 45.910	S	47.728	\$	48.682
17	Annual	\$ 76,754.86	\$	79,816.10	\$ 83,024.76	\$ 86,388.12	\$	89,800.62	\$	91,600.60
	Bi-weekly	\$ 2,952.11	\$	3,069.85	\$ 3,193.26	\$ 3,322.62	\$	3,453.87	\$	3,523.10
	Hourty	\$ 42.173	\$	43.855	\$ 45.618	\$ 47.466	\$	49.341	\$	50.330
18	Annual	\$ 79,270.10	\$	82,425.98	\$ 85,749.30	\$ 89,205.48	\$	92,750.84	\$	94,609.06
	Bi-weekly	\$ 3,048.85	\$	3,170.23	\$ 3,298.05	\$ 3,430.98	\$	3,567.34	\$	3,638.81
	Hourly	\$ 43.555	\$	45.289	\$ 47.115	\$ 49.014	\$	50.962	\$	51.983

COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE OTTAWA PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD AND CUPE 503

FROM JANUARY 1, 2020 TO DECEMBER 31, 2024

APPENDIX F - TEMPORARY VACANCIES

Preamble

- (a) The parties agree that temporary operational requirements that arise during the normal eight (8) week scheduling period are to be dealt with under Article 4.5.
 - (b) Temporary employment and/or the hiring of temporary employees shall not derogate from the requirement to fill vacancies and new positions of a permanent nature as set out in Article 11.
 - (c) If the work of a time-limited project becomes ongoing or becomes an established part of the Employer workforce, the position shall be posted in accordance with Article 11 of the collective agreement.

1) Information on Temporary Vacancies

When contemplating a temporary vacancy, the Employer shall notify the Union in writing, giving the details of the temporary vacancy, including the type of work to be performed, the duration, and the applicable classification and rate of pay.

This clause does not apply to circumstances covered under paragraph 2(a) below.

2) Circumstances Allowing Temporary Vacancies

Temporary vacancies may be filled only in the event of one of the following circumstances:

- (a) A permanent employee is absent or is anticipated to be absent for a period greater than eight (8) weeks but less than two (2) years. Such period may be extended with the written consent of the parties, or
- (b) Specific funding is provided by an outside source (other than the City of Ottawa, with the exception of Development Charge money) for a period not greater than two (2) years. Such period may be extended with the written consent of the parties, or

- (c) Time limited projects not exceeding six (6) months. Such period may be extended with the written consent of the parties.
 - (d) To fill vacancies for up to eighteen (18) months in those affected positions of which the Union has received notice of the introduction or implementation of organizational and technological change in accordance with Article 24.

3) Staffing of Temporary Vacancies

- (a) All temporary vacancies shall be filled as per Article 11.1
- (b) If the project is staffed with existing full-time, part-time or casual bargaining unit employees, full-time and part-time employees shall be eligible to return to their former positions and casuals shall be eligible to return to their former casual status either:
 - (i) At the expiry of the term of the project; or
 - (ii) At any time prior to completing three (3) months in the project, as per the trial period outlined in Article 11.3.
- *4) <u>Terms and Conditions Applicable to Employees Performing Temporary Work</u> <u>Under Appendix F (External Applicants)</u>

All provisions of the collective agreement will apply to externally hired employees performing work under Appendix F, save and except as modified below:

- Article 6 (Leave), not applicable except that the temporary employee shall be paid 6% vacation pay, based on gross earnings on a bi-weekly basis.
- Article 7 (Workplace Safety & Insurance Act), not applicable except for 7.1 and 7.2.
 - Article 8 (Pension), subject to the terms and conditions of the OMERS Plan.
 - Article 9 (Probation Period): Not applicable
 - Article 10 (Seniority): In the event that a temporary employee becomes a full-time or part-time employee, he/she shall have his/her credits of hours worked converted into seniority in accordance with the collective agreement.

- Article 12 (Layoff and Recall): Not applicable
 - Article 17 (Benefits):
 - After six (6) consecutive months, an employee who has worked an average of 17.5 hours per week during the initial six (6) month period shall receive an amount equal to 8% added to his/her regular pay in lieu of benefits
 - Article 22 (Job Security): Not applicable
 - Article 24 (Organizational and Technological Change): Not applicable
- 5) <u>Terms and Conditions Applicable to Internal Applicants Performing Temporary</u> Work Under Appendix F

Where the employment status of existing employees changes temporarily, the following will establish which provisions of the collective agreement are applicable:

- (a) If the temporary assignment is known at the outset to be for a period of six (6) consecutive months or less, the employee will continue to be covered by the same provisions of the collective agreement as they were applicable prior to the beginning of the temporary assignment.
- (b) If the temporary assignment is known at the outset to be for a period of more than six (6) consecutive months, the provisions of the collective agreement applicable to the employee's new status will take effect on the first day of the temporary assignment.
- (c) If the temporary assignment was initially for six (6) consecutive months or less but is extended beyond six (6) months without interruption, the provisions of the collective agreement applicable to the employee's new temporary status will take effect on the first day of the seventh month in the temporary assignment. Where applicable, the employee will be deemed to have served the waiting period provided under Article 17, Benefits.